
Please ask for  Julie Britton e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information 
only

Committee - GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

Date & Time - Thursday, 11th February, 2021 at 10.00 
am

Venue - Via Zoom

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 
ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings

THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANELS (CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND 
POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 
2020

Members

Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mrs K. Grey
Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay Advisor)

Democratic Services 
Date: Tuesday, 2 February 2021

Public Document Pack

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/virtual-committee-meetings




Governance and Audit Committee
11 February 2021

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 13
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 2020.

2. ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 

3. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

4. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

6. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.

7. TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 
To note if there are any training issues/ requests.

8. BRECKLAND COUNCIL ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER FOR THE YEAR 
ENDING 31 MARCH 2020 

14 - 35

Report of the External Auditor.

9. SELF-ASSESSMENT REPORT 36 - 43
Report by Faye Haywood, Internal Audit Manager.

10. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2020-21 44 - 56
Report of Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant & Deputy Section 151 Officer.

11. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY 57 - 80
Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Governance and 
Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director for Strategy & Governance.

Jason Cole, Executive Manager for People & Innovation and Ryan Pack, 
Innovation and Change Business Partner will be in attendance to present the 
report.



Governance and Audit Committee
11 February 2021

Page(s)
herewith

12. Q3 STRATEGIC RISK UPDATE 81 - 94
Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Governance and 
Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director for Strategy & Governance.

Jason Cole, Executive Manager for People & Innovation and Ryan Pack, 
Innovation and Change Business Partner will be in attendance to present the 
report.

13. CONSTITUTION - CALL-IN OF OFFICER NON-KEY 
DECISIONS/DEFINITION OF KEY DECISION 

95 - 102

Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Governance and 
Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director for Strategy & Governance.

Mark Stinson, Executive Manager for Governance to present the report.

14. WORK PROGRAMME 103
A copy of the Committee’s work programme is attached.  The Committee is 
asked to consider whether any additions, deletions or amendments to the 
programme are required.

NB: Future report items will be added to the Work Programme accordingly.

15. NEXT MEETING 
To note the arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday, 10 
June 2021 at 10am.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Thursday, 17 December 2020 at 10.00 am 
Virtual meeting via Zoom

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mr H. E. J. Clarke

Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr J. Plaskett (Independent Lay Advisor)

Also Present
Mr T. Birt Mrs S. E. Suggitt (Exec Member for 

Governance)

In Attendance
Fiona Dodimead - Internal Audit Director TIAA
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Jason Cole - Executive Manager People & Innovation
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner

Action By
Chairman's Opening Remarks  

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

44/20 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2020 were agreed as a 
correct record, subject to the following minor typographical errors being 
amended:

 Page 13 – Annual Report & Opinion 2019/20 (Minute No. 38/20) 
5th paragraph - the word ‘word’ to be changed to ‘work’; and

 Page 14 – Progress Report on Internal Activity (Minute No. 39/20) 
3rd paragraph – the words ‘for the’ had mistakenly been added 
twice.

45/20 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

In response to a question, Members were informed that there had been 
no feedback about the furlough status of the Law firm dealing with the 
Council’s S106 Agreements.

46/20 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Grey. 

5

Agenda Item 1



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

2

Action By
47/20 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

48/20 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None declared.

49/20 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

Councillor Tim Birt and Councillor Sarah Suggitt.

Councillor Suggitt was in attendance in her capacity as the Executive 
Member for Governance.

50/20 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None.

51/20 STRATEGIC RISKS UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

As this report was part exempt, it was agreed that the public part of the 
report would be discussed separately, and the private and confidential 
appendix would be discussed at the end of the meeting under agenda 
item 16.

Councillor Birt said that he was having difficulty in justifying the 
qualification for the exemption as he did not believe that any of the report 
should be excluded from the press and public.

In response, the Chairman advised that he was satisfied the exempt 
report fulfilled the necessary criteria and as Chairman he was entitled to 
make that ruling.  

Councillor Sarah Suggitt, the Executive Member for Governance, Jason 
Cole, the Executive Manager for People & Innovation and Ryan Pack, the 
Innovation & Change Business Partner were in attendance for this item.

The Executive Member for Governance apologised to the Committee for 
not including these Risk Registers at previous meetings. It had not been 
intentional and was an oversight and would not happen again.

Since previously reported, the strategic risks had been reviewed, updated 
and a number of risks had been added.  The most notable risk was 
related to Covid, which had been included in response to the pandemic, 
but the Council continued to actively manage and mitigate to ensure that, 
the Council had been able to continue to operate and deliver services 
throughout the pandemic.  This risk would remain in place whilst the 
pandemic was on-going.

The majority of the risks on the Strategic Register had been impacted by 
Covid and these implications had been reflected in the commentary 
attached to the report. In many cases this had not led to risks being raised 
into the ‘red’ category.   It should also be noted that the Chief Executive 
vacancy risk had been dealt with under the operational staffing risks.  

6



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

3

Action By
Currently the Chief Executive’s duties were being completed by the two 
experienced Executive Directors as the Council continued to operate 
through the pandemic in the interim Place Based Management structure.  

The Council had also successfully recruited to the statutory role of Head 
of Paid Services.  Executive Briefings remained in place as well as the 
formal meeting structure between Executive Members and the Executive 
Officers. 

The Executive Manager for People & Innovation also apologised to the 
Committee for the oversight and he was working to ensure that the Risk 
report would be brought to the meetings on a required basis in future.  

The Chairman acknowledged their apologies and thanked them both 
particularly to the Cabinet Member for attending this meeting as this had 
been a matter of concern to the Committee. 

The Innovation & Change Business Partner highlighted a number of risks 
for Members to note.

The likelihood of risk had been raised for the 3 financial risks within the 
report, the Medium-Term Financial Plan, the Business Rates Retention 
Scheme and Asset Portfolio, this had been in response to the wider 
economic situations.  Equally, the likelihood of the cyber security risk had 
also been raised which was more reflective of the wider situation with 
local authorities around such security. 

Members were then invited to ask questions.

The Chairman drew Members’ attention to the private & confidential item 
and the matrix to the risks where further explanations had been included 
which would be easier for the Committee to follow.

The Vice-Chairman asked a question on the failure to deliver the Local 
Plan and Delivery Plan and suggested that this had been very much 
affected by the emerging Government Policy.  He felt that the risk had 
increased but according to the matrix, the risk in respect of the Local Plan 
had remained the same.  Members were informed that the reason that 
this risk had not been increased but the risk to the emerging Policy had 
been due to the conversations that he had been having with the Director 
of Planning & Building Control where it had been agreed that if there were 
issues with the emerging Policy there were still other options available to 
the Council in respect of the delivery of the Local Plan.  

Councillor Birt mentioned the critical breach of ICT and the failure to 
maximise the income from the Council’s investment portfolio.  He had 
noted that the risks were the exact same on both matrices but felt that on 
the ICT security risk whether the Council had under-estimated the 
consequences and felt that it should be included in the critical impact 
area.   

The Innovation & Change Business Partner felt that this was a fair 
comment around the impact of such a breach and he would be happy to 
pick this up with the Head of IT outside of this meeting. 

Councillor Clarke agreed with the risks as set out in the report but as this 

JCole

RPack

7



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

4

Action By
Committee met periodically, he asked if he could assume that if the risk 
levels changed that the Council had the flexibility to review and change 
those risks.  Members were informed that Managers were asked to 
update their risks once every quarter and if there were any major 
changes, more than once in a quarter, the Managers were able to access 
the risk register and make an individual assessment, but he would be 
more than happy to provide the Committee with verbal updates on any 
significant changes to those risks to future meetings.

Mr Plaskett thanked the Officers for the updates on pages 25 to 30 of the 
agenda pack as this information provided clarity and had provided him 
with some assurance that these strategic risks were being monitored.  He 
still had some minor issues with the action dates that suggested that they 
were not being looked at as no target dates had been set.  

Referring back to Councillor Birt’s earlier point in respect of ICT, this had 
reminded him of the number of internal audit actions that had been 
outstanding on cyber security for more than a year and was concerned 
that the right level of commitment was not being provided.

In terms of target dates, the Innovation & Change Business Partner said 
that he would, ahead of the February meeting, provided Members with a 
verbal update on revised target dates for the Committee’s consideration.  
Equally on the cyber security audit issue, Members were informed that 
this matter would be discussed with the Auditors and IT and he believed 
that the Council was in a position to close down many of these risks. 
Members would be kept informed accordingly. 

Councillor James referred back to risk in respect of the Local Plan.  It 
stated quite clearly on page 29 of the agenda pack that this had therefore 
led to a rise in the risk likelihood yet referring to the matrix no changes 
had been made. The Innovation & Change Business Partner apologised 
as this risk should have been raised from a likelihood of a 2 to a 3 and 
would be amended accordingly. 

The contents of the report were noted.

Members then went into private session to discuss agenda item 16. 

RPack

RPack

RPack

52/20 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL ACTIVITY (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Fiona Dodimead, the Internal Audit Director (TIAA) presented the report 
and provided Members with a progress update.

A great deal of work had been carried out in Quarter 3 but unfortunately 
due to the timing of the audits, the final report for this meeting had not 
been produced.  This work would be reported at the next meeting.

In terms of reporting, the assurance mapping had been concluded and 
this draft report would be presented to the Head of Internal Audit for 
review.  

The Corporate Governance & Procurement audit was in progress and 
was due to conclude over the next few weeks.   

In terms of Quarter 4, all audits had been scheduled, the resources had 

8



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

5

Action By
been assigned and all were due to be completed by the end of the 
financial year. 

No questions were asked, and the report was otherwise noted.

53/20 ANNUAL REPORT ON THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT SERVICE 
AND ACTUAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019-20 (AGENDA ITEM 
10) 

Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant presented the report.

This was the first of three reports for the Governance & Audit Committee 
to consider. 
The annual report on the Treasury Management Service and Actual 
Prudential Indicators reported on the previous year’s performance in 
2019/20 and was a recommendation to Full Council.

This report would normally be brought to the Committee in the month of 
June but due to the pandemic the meeting had been cancelled and 
therefore some of the information contained within the report was out of 
date.

Members’ attention was drawn to Appendix A.  The Chief Accountant 
advised that some of this information was out of date, but more recent 
information could be found in one of the reports being considered later on 
in the agenda.

In summary, Breckland Council had complied with all the requirements in 
2019/20, no limits had been breached and no borrowing had been 
undertaken.

Attention was drawn to Appendix B, on page 48 of the agenda pack.

The capital spend table at section 2.2. showed an actual spend of £4.5m 
against the budget of £6.4m.  This was mainly due to grant funded 
projects that were continuing in the current year.  On page 49, the table 
showing the actual cash balance compared to the Council’s expected, 
under section 3.4 of the report, showed a figure of almost £24m 
compared to estimates of £19m and this was partly due to below budget 
capital spend and due to differences in balances on debtors and creditors.

The report was otherwise fairly factual, and no questions were asked.

RECOMMEND to Full Council that:

1) the actual 2019/20 prudential indicators within this report be 
approved; and

2) the Treasury Management stewardship report for 2019/20 at 
Appendix B and Appendix C of the report be noted. 

   
54/20 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID YEAR REPORT 2020-21 (AGENDA 

ITEM 11) 

The Chief Accountant advised that this report, reported on the activity for 
the current year thus far.

9



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

6

Action By

The main area to note was the lack of investment returns.  Although the 
interest rate was 0.1% the Council was struggling to get anymore than 
0.01% hence the very low returns.

The Council also had much higher balances of cash than expected mainly 
due to the Government grants of which over £30m had been paid to the 
Council from the start of April 2020 to deliver grants to small businesses, 
retail, hospitality and leisure facilities. Many balances had to be kept for a 
short period of time that had proved difficult to find investment 
counterparties particularly when the Government DMO started to charge 
negative interest rates for any balances held for less than a week. 
However, on occasion, deposits had to be placed with the Debt 
Management Office (DMO) at a negative interest rate (i.e. the Council 
was charged to place the funds) but the total cost to date was 
approximately only £50.  The Chief Accountant was pleased to inform 
Members that since then, the Council had managed to open a few more 
accounts and therefore funds were no longer being placed at negative 
rates.

The Council also took the little discretion it had on the Policy and had a 
£6m balance with one local authority where limits were normally £5m just 
through to February to help manage some of the excess cash in the short 
term. 

Appendix A of the report contained the commentary from the Council’s 
Treasury Advisors that was more up to date in comparison to the previous 
report.  

During the year, the Capital Programme had been amended and some of 
the projects had been moved into the next financial year as part of the 
approved budget mainly due to pressures on staff and resourcing in 
respect of the pandemic earlier in the year.

Councillor Kybird, the Vice Chairman of the Governance & Audit 
Committee asked if there were any risks in placing monies with other local 
authorities. Members were informed that lending with other local 
authorities was classed as very low risk due to them legally having to pay 
back all its debts. 

The Chairman hoped the Council had not invested its cash in the two 
authorities that were having issues around their financial stability.  
Members were informed that it had not.

Councillor Birt drew attention to page 64 of the agenda pack in particular 
the capital expenditure by Service.  He had noticed a great deal of 
variance that the Council was moving around particularly under 
Commercialisation and Place and he wondered what confidence the 
Council had in these figures and how much this might change as it moved 
forward. 

The Chief Accountant advised that this was the best estimate at the time, 
and she agreed with Councillor Birt that these numbers would most 
probably change particularly with the larger value projects. However, at 
the time of writing these were best estimates of the time frame as was 
dependent on so many factors going into the new year such as local 

10



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

7

Action By
lockdowns and enhanced restrictions, all would have impact and was 
difficult to predict.

The mid-year report and information on treasury activity was otherwise 
noted.

55/20 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY & STRATEGY 2021-22 
(AGENDA ITEM 12) 

The Chief Accountant presented her final report which outlined the 
Treasury Management Policy & Strategy for 2021-22.

The recommendations to Full Council were highlighted.

The report was a little earlier than usually reported and the reason for this 
was explained.

Page 69 of the agenda pack under section 1.5 provided Members with a 
detailed summary of the key issues and changes made to the policies and 
strategies. It was noted that the only changes that had been made were 
the numbers in the tables in respect of the Council’s draft budget.

The Chairman asked if seeing this report earlier would cause any 
detrimental effects to the Council.  The Chief Accountant explained that 
no detrimental effects would be caused in terms of the Policy itself the 
only potential change was that draft budget figures were being used; 
therefore, when the mid-year report was discussed at the Governance & 
Audit Committee in December next year there could be slightly larger 
variances compared to the final budget figures.

Additionally, the Chairman asked if there were any particular risks that the 
Committee should be considering bearing in mind the year that the 
Council had just had.  It was explained that the main risk was the lack of 
ability to place monies anywhere without negative interest rates but as the 
majority had been resolved this should not be classed as an issue going 
forward.

The Vice-Chairman asked a question about the process in extending or 
using the Council’s overdraft of £2m.  Members were informed that as 
part of this Policy, if approved by the Committee and the Full Council, no 
formal approval was needed to use it; however, it would be signed off by 
herself as the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer before it was 
implemented and she would need to be confident that it was the best 
value for money compared to borrowing from, for example, the Public 
Works Loan Board (PWLB).

Councillor James asked a question under section 1.4 of the report where 
it stated that an extension to the current arrangement was being 
negotiated and asked if this was in the context of the pandemic. The Chief 
Accountant explained that this had nothing to do with Covid, it was about 
the contractual arrangements coming to an end.  There were very few 
people who offered this service and, as a consequence, the Finance 
Team had been liaising with the Council’s Procurement Team to extend 
the current contract with Link Asset Services, the Council’s external 
Treasury Management Advisors.

11



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

8

Action By
Mr Plaskett, the Lay Advisor to the Committee asked the following 
questions:

On page 69, under section 1.5 of the report, it stated that the Council had 
a borrowing need for 2020-21 but he had noticed somewhere else in the 
report that there was no borrowing requirement for this year. The Chief 
Accountant explained that this one of the oddities of the reporting on the 
Prudential Indicators and explained that in numbers the Council did have 
a borrowing need against its capital but because the Council had 
balances in its banks of reserves it was called internal borrowing.  In other 
words, the Council was able to fund the short term need to pay off the 
capital over the next three years for its internal balances.   

Under table 1, there was a huge amount of capital expenditure under 
Commercialisation and Mr Plaskett asked if this was in respect of waste 
collections discussed at a previous meeting.  The Chief Accountant 
agreed that it was a big increase than normal but the main reason for that 
was in respect of the two large externally funded power projects - £14m 
Homes England grant for power at Thetford and just over £2m for power 
at Snetterton also grant funded. The waste vehicles and equipment had 
been shown under the Place directorate. On table 2, it was explained that 
the very last line that showed the net financing need for the year, was 
reducing due to the Council repaying the borrowing from internal 
balances. 

On page 73, on table 3, Mr Plaskett did not understand the figures and 
asked for these to be explained. Members were informed that this table 
linked to back to the very first question that Mr Plaskett had asked.  This 
was the number that had to be calculated for the borrowing need for 
Capital purposes, the number at the bottom of the table was the Capital 
Financing Requirement and because it was a positive number, in theory, 
this meant that the Council did not have enough money to finance the 
Capital Programme; however, it did have enough due to it being paid off 
in Revenue over the years.    

Table 7 on page 75, there was a typing error on the finance leases under 
31/03/2020, one figure too many.

The Chairman thanked Mr Plaskett for his questions and felt that these 
large projects for the power at Thetford and Snetterton were very exciting 
and were projects that the Council had been championing for a long time.  
He was pleased to finally see the evidence of them both appearing in the 
budgets going forward.

After being duly proposed and seconded, it was    

RECOMMENDED to Full Council that the following be approved:

1) The Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 to 2023-24 at 
Appendix A;

2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained 
within Appendix A which sets out the Council’s policy on MRP;

3) The Prudential & Local Indicators and limits contained within 
Appendix A (Tables 1-11);

AChubbock

12



Governance and Audit Committee
17 December 2020

9

Action By

4) The Investment Strategy 2021-22 (Appendix B) and the detailed 
criteria included in Appendix B1; and

5) The Treasury Management Policy at Appendix B2.

56/20 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

It was noted that the Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions 
recommendation had been removed from the Council report at the Full 
Council meeting on 10 December and would be brought back to the 
Governance & Audit Committee in February for further discussion.  This 
item had already been added to the next Work Programme.

The Work Programme was otherwise noted.

57/20 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Thursday, 11 February 2021 at 
10am were noted. 

58/20 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(4)(A) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

59/20 APPENDIX 2 FOR STRATEGIC RISKS UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

Members were informed that following earlier conversations with the 
Directors, it had been suggested that the risk be lowered to a one and 
moved to an operational risk. 

Members were asked to vote on whether this risk should be retained as a 
strategic risk, and it was

RESOLVED that the risk be moved to an operational risk and be removed 
from the Strategic Risk register. 

RPack

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

CHAIRMAN

13



Breckland Council

Annual Audit Letter for the year 
ended 31 March 2020

18 December 2020

14

A
genda Item

 8



Page

Section 1 Executive Summary 3

Section 2 Purpose and Responsibilities 7

Section 3 Financial Statement Audit 9

Section 4 Value for Money 12

Section 5 Other Reporting Issues 14

Section 5 Focused on your future 17

Appendices

Appendix A Audit Fees 21

Contents

Breckland Council 2

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) have issued a ‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited 
bodies’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk). 

This Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and 
audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and 
what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.

The ‘Terms of Appointment (updated April 2018)’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors 
must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and 
statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the 
Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to 
any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be 
improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with your usual 
partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Hywel Ball, our Managing Partner, 1 
More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all 
we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of 
course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact 
our professional institute.

15

http://www.psaa.co.uk/


Section 1

Executive Summary

3

16



We are required to issue an Annual Audit Letter to Breckland Council following completion of our audit procedures for the year ended 31 March 2020. 

Covid-19 had an impact on a number of aspects of our 2019/20 audit. We updated our audit procedures to take account of the following issues: 

4

Executive Summary

Area of impact Commentary

Impact on the delivery of the audit

► Changes to reporting timescales As a result of Covid-19, new regulations, the Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 No. 
404, were published and came into force on 30 April 2020. This announced a change to the publication date for 
final, audited accounts from 31 July to 30 November 2020 for all relevant authorities. We worked with the Council 
to deliver our audit in line with the revised reporting timescale.

Impact on our risk assessment

► Valuation of Property Plant and Equipment 
and Investment Property 

The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), the body setting the standards for property valuations, issued 
guidance to valuers highlighting that the uncertain impact of Covid-19 on markets might cause a valuer to conclude 
that there is a material uncertainty over the valuations in place at the 31 March 2020. Caveats around this material 
uncertainty were included in the year-end valuation reports produced by the Council’s external valuer. 

► Disclosures on Going Concern Financial plans for 2020/21 and medium term financial plans required revision to take account of Covid-19. We 
considered the unpredictability of the current environment gave rise to a risk that the Council would not 
appropriately disclose the key factors relating to going concern, underpinned by Management’s assessment with 
particular reference to Covid-19. 

Impact on the scope of our audit

► Information Produced by the Entity (IPE) We identified an increased risk around the completeness, accuracy, and appropriateness of information produced by 
the entity due to the inability of the audit team to verify original documents or re-run reports on-site from the 
Council’s systems because of remote working protocols. We undertook the following to address this risk:

► Used the screen sharing function of Microsoft Teams to evidence re-running of reports used to generate the IPE 
we audited; and

► Agree IPE to scanned documents or other system screenshots.

► Consultation requirements Additional EY consultation requirements were required concerning the impact on auditor reports. 

17



The tables below set out the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process. 

5

Area of Work Conclusion

► Financial statements Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council as at 
31 March 2020 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended. 

► Consistency of other information published with the 
financial statements

Other information published within the Statement of Accounts was consistent with the financial 
statements.

► Concluding on the s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness

We concluded that the Council had put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in its use 
of resources. 

Area of Work Conclusion

Reports by exception:

► Consistency of Governance Statement The Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council.

► Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest. 

► Written recommendations to the Council, which 
should be copied to the Secretary of State

We had no matters to report. 

► Other actions taken in relation to our responsibilities 
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014

We had no matters to report

Executive Summary (cont’d)

Opinion on the Council’s:

Area of Work Conclusion

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on our 
review of the Council’s Whole of Government Accounts 
return (WGA). 

We had no matters to report.

18



Executive Summary (cont’d)

6

As a result of the above we have also:

Area of Work Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with governance of 
the Council communicating significant findings 
resulting from our audit.

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 2 October 2020, with an update Addendum issued on the 23 
November 2020. 

Issued a certificate that we have completed the audit in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 and the National Audit 
Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice.

Our certificate was issued on 26 November 2020. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work and, in particular given the challenging 
priorities they faced as a result of their work in responding to the Covid-19 pandemic, their collaborative approach which enabled us to complete the 2019/20 
audit by working remotely. 

Mark Hodgson 
Associate Partner
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

19



Section 2

Purpose and 
Responsibilities

e
Responsibilities

20



Purpose and Responsibilities

8

The Purpose of this Letter

The purpose of this Annual Audit Letter is to communicate to the Council and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues arising from 
our work, which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council. 

We have already reported the detailed findings from our audit work in our 2019/20 Audit Results Report to the Governance and Audit Committee, representing 
those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this letter. The matters reported here are the most significant for the Council.

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor

Our 2019/20 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 6 May 2020 and is conducted in accordance with the National 
Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office. 

As auditors we are responsible for:

► Expressing an opinion:

► On the 2019/20 financial statements; and

► On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

► Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

► Reporting by exception:

► If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council;

► Any significant matters that are in the public interest; 

► Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and

► If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit Practice. 

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on your Whole of Government Accounts return. The 
Council is below the specified audit threshold of £500 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the return.

Responsibilities of the Council

The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement (AGS). In the AGS, the Council 
reports publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has monitored and evaluated the effectiveness of its governance 
arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period. 

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

21



Section 3

Financial Statement 
Audit

22



Ref: EY-000092651-01 10

Key Issues

Financial Statement Audit

Risks Conclusion

Misstatements due to fraud or error We did not identify any matters to report to the Council.

Incorrect capitalisation of revenue expenditure We did not identify any matters to report to the Council.

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment We did not identify and misstatements to report to the Council.  

The Council appropriately disclosed a material valuation uncertainty paragraph included by its 
valuer in their valuation report.

Pension liability Following the publication of the HM Treasury consultation on the remedy for the McCloud 
judgement in July 2020, together with updated assumptions for investment returns within the 
Norfolk Pension Fund, the Council obtained a revised actuarial reports from the Pension Fund 
Actuary. This showed an increase in the Council’s pension fund liability of £71,000, for which the 
financial statements were adjusted.

Omission or understatement of NDR appeals 
provision

We did not identify any matters to report to the Council.

Going Concern Disclosures The Council assessed the impact of Covid-19 on its income, expenditure, cash and reserves 
position into 2020/21 and 2021/22 and made an appropriate disclosure in the statements.

The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its financial 
management and financial health. We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, 
International Standards on Auditing (UK), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on the 26 November 
2020.

Our detailed findings were reported to the 8 October 2020 Governance and Audit Committee. The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows:

23



Financial Statement Audit (cont’d)

11

Our application of materiality

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that we judged would be material for the financial 
statements as a whole.

We also identified the following areas where misstatement at a level lower than our overall materiality level might influence the reader. For these areas we 
developed an audit strategy specific to these areas. The areas identified and audit strategy applied include:

► Remuneration disclosures including any severance payments, exit packages and termination benefits: We agreed all disclosures back to source data and 
approved amounts applying a reduced materiality level of £5,000 in line with bandings disclosed in the financial statements.

► Related party transactions: We tested the completeness of related party disclosures and the accuracy of all disclosures by checking back to supporting 
evidence applying a reduced materiality level equal to the reporting threshold.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative 
considerations. 

Planning materiality We determined planning materiality to be £1.376 million (2018/19: £1.379 million), which is 2% of 
gross expenditure on the provision of services reported in the accounts of £60.749 million adjusted for 
the non domestic rates tariff and levy payment.  

We consider gross expenditure on the provision of services to be one of the principal considerations for 
stakeholders in assessing the financial performance of the Council.

Reporting threshold We agreed with the Governance and Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit 
differences in excess of £68,780 (2018/19: £68,000) 

Item Thresholds applied

24



Section 4

Value for Money

25



13

Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This 
is known as our value for money conclusion.

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to:

► Take informed decisions;

► Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

► Work with partners and other third parties.

Proper

arrangements for

securing value

for money

Informed

decision

making

Working with 

partners and 

third parties

Sustainable 

resource 

deployment

We did not identify any significant risks in relation to these criteria. 

We have performed the procedures outlined in our audit plan. We did not identify any significant 
weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and 
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 

We therefore issued an unqualified value for money conclusion on 26 November 2020.

On 16 April 2020 the National Audit Office published an update to auditor guidance in relation to 
the 2019/20 Value for Money assessment in the light of Covid-19. This clarified that in 
undertaking the 2019/20 Value for Money assessment auditors should consider Local 
Authorities’ response to Covid-19 only as far as it relates to the 2019/20 financial year; only 
where clear evidence comes to the auditor’s attention of a significant failure in arrangements as a 
result of Covid-19 during the financial year, would it be appropriate to recognise a significant risk 
in relation to the 2019/20 VFM arrangements conclusion. 

26



Section 5

Other Reporting 
Issues

27



Whole of Government Accounts

We are required to perform the procedures specified by the National Audit Office on the accuracy of the consolidation pack prepared by the Council for Whole of 
Government Accounts purposes. The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £500 million. 

Therefore, we were not required to perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack. 

Annual Governance Statement

We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s Annual Governance Statement, identify any incons istencies with the other information 
of which we are aware from our work, and consider whether it is misleading. 

We completed this work and did not identify any matters to report. 

Report in the Public Interest

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes to our attention in 
the course of the audit in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public. 

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Written Recommendations

We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to consider it at a public 
meeting and to decide what action to take in response.  

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation.

Objections Received

We did not receive any objections to the 2019/20 financial statements from members of the public. 

Other Powers and Duties

We did not identify any issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

Other Reporting Issues

15

28



Independence

We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Governance and Audit Committee on 8 October 2020. In our professional 
judgement the firm is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been compromised within the meaning regulatory and 
professional requirements. 

Control Themes and Observations

As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of testing performed. 
Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to communicate to you significant deficiencies in 
internal control identified during our audit. 

We have adopted a fully substantive audit approach and have therefore not tested the operation of controls. 

Our audit did not identify any controls issues to bring to the attention of the Council or the Governance and Audit Committee.

16

Other Reporting Issues (cont’d)

29



Section 6

Focused on your 
future

30



The NAO has a new Code of Audit Practice for 2020/21. The impact on the Council is summarised in the table below. 

18

Focused on your future

Council responsibilities for value for money

The Council is required to maintain an effective system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives while 
safeguarding and securing value for money from the public funds and other resources at its disposal.

As part of the material published with the financial statements, the Council is required to bring together commentary on the governance framework and 
how this has operated during the period in a governance statement. In preparing the governance statement, the Council tailors the content to reflect its 
own individual circumstances, consistent with the requirements of the relevant accounting and reporting framework and having regard to any guidance 
issued in support of that framework. This includes a requirement to provide commentary on arrangements for securing value for money from the use of 
resources.

Auditor responsibilities under the new Code

Under the 2020 Code we are still required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness on its use of resources. However, there is no longer overall evaluation criterion which we need to conclude on. Instead the 2020 Code 
requires the auditor to design their work to provide them with sufficient assurance to enable them to report to the Council a commentary against 
specified reporting criteria (see below) on the arrangements the Council has in place to secure value for money through economic, efficient and effective 
use of its resources for the relevant period.

The specified reporting criteria are:

• Financial sustainability - How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services.

• Governance - How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks.

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - How the Council uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages 
and delivers its services.

Continued

31



The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom introduces the application of new accounting standards in future years. The impact on the Council 
is summarised in the table below. 

19

Focused on your future

Standard Issue Impact

IFRS 16 
Leases

It was proposed that IFRS 16 (Leases) would be applicable for Local Authority 
accounts from the 2021/22 financial year, deferred a year due to the impact of 
Covid-19.
Whilst the definition of a lease remains similar to the current leasing standard; IAS 
17, for Local Authorities who lease a large number of assets the new standard will 
have a significant impact, with nearly all current leases being included on the 
balance sheet. 
However in response to the ongoing pandemic and its pressures on council finance 
teams, the CIPFA LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board has announced 
that the implementation of IFRS 16 in the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK (the Code) will be deferred until the 2022-23 financial 
year. This decision brings the Code in line with the decision by the Government’s 
Financial Reporting Advisory Board to put back the effective date for the 
implementation of the standard to 1 April 2022.

CIPFA LASAAC has indicated that the deferral is limited to one year only and that 
there is no intention to grant any further extensions based on a lack of 
preparedness.
The announcement is available on CIPFA’s website.

There are transitional arrangements within the 
standard and It is assumed this will be reflected in the 
2021/22 Accounting Code of Practice for Local 
Authorities when published. CIPFA have issued some 
limited provisional information which begins to clarify 
what the impact on local authority accounting will be. 
Whether any accounting statutory overrides will be 
introduced to mitigate any impact remains an 
outstanding issue.

However, what is clear is that the Council will need to 
undertake a detailed exercise to identify all of its 
leases and capture the relevant information for them. 
The Council must therefore ensure that all lease 
arrangements are fully documented.

Reporting on VFM

In addition to the commentary on arrangements, where we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources the 2020 Code has the same requirement as the 2015 Code in that we should refer to this by 
exception in the audit report on the financial statements.

However, a new requirement under the 2020 Code is for us to include the commentary on arrangements in a new Auditor’s Annual Report. The 2020 
Code states that the commentary should be clear, readily understandable and highlight any issues we wish to draw to the Counc il’s attention or the wider 
public. This should include details of any recommendations arising from the audit and follow-up of recommendations issued previously, along with our 
view as to whether they have been implemented satisfactorily.

32



Audit Fees
Section 8

20

33



In the Audit Results Report we indicated that we had carried out additional work as a result of the impact of Covid-19 that necessitated an additional 
audit fee. We have now quantified this fee. We have discussed the proposed additional fee with the Chief Finance Officer after providing supporting 
details. We will now seek formal approval from PSAA.

21

Audit Fees

Description

Final Fee 2019/20

£’s

Planned Fee 2019/20

£’s

Scale Fee 2019/20

£’s

Final Fee 2018/19 

£’s

Total Audit Fee – Code work 34,293 34,293 34,293 34,293

Changes in work required to address professional and 
regulatory requirements and scope associated with 
risk 

21,140 21,140 N/A

Audit of the group account consolidation 3,707 3,707 2,360

Revised Proposed Scale Fee (see Note 1) 59,140 59,140 34,293 36,653

Additional work:

• Assessment of Going Concern in light of Covid-19 
including consultation process and documentation 
and the reassessment of materiality and 
identification of any further audit risks (including 
in relation to VFM)

2,735 N/A

• Increased Property, Plant and Equipment and 
Investment Property procedures to consider, 
challenge and respond to the basis of the 
valuation, including the RICS material uncertainty 
clause, including the use of specialists from EY 
Real Estate

5,185 23,740

Total Audit Fee 67,060 60,393

Note 1 - For 2019/20, we have proposed an increase to the scale fee to reflect the increased level of audit work required which has been impacted by a range of 
factors, as detailed in our Audit Plan. Our proposed increase has been discussed with management and is with PSAA for determination.

34



22

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

About EY
EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction
and advisory services. The insights and quality
services we deliver help build trust and confidence
in the capital markets and in economies the world
over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to
deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders.
In so doing, we play a critical role in building a better 
working world for our people, for our clients and for
our communities.

EY refers to the global organization, and may refer
to one or more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young
Global Limited, each of which is a separate legal entity.
Ernst & Young Global Limited, a UK company limited
by guarantee, does not provide services to clients.
For more information about our organization, please
visit ey.com.

© 2018 EYGM Limited.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

EY-000070901-01 (UK) 07/18. CSG London.

In line with EY’s commitment to minimise its
impact on the environment, this document has
been printed on paper with a high recycled content.

This material has been prepared for general informational purposes
only and is not intended to be relied upon as accounting, tax, or other 
professional advice. Please refer to your advisors for specific advice.

ey.com

35



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Head of Internal Audit

To: Governance and Audit Committee 11 February 2021

Author: Faye Haywood Internal Audit Manager for Breckland DC

Subject: Audit Committee Self-Assessment Exercise 

Purpose: The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document 
on “audit committee’s practical guidance for local authorities and police” sets 
out the guidance on the function and the operation of audit committees. It 
represents CIPFA’s view of best practice and incorporate the positions 
statements previously issued. 

The Governance and Audit Committee has been undertaking self-
assessments since 2008 and the CIPFA Audit Committee Self-Assessment 
Checklist is attached to this report for Members to discuss.

Recommendation(s):

1) That Members note the attached checklist at Appendix 1 to this report, ensure that 
this is an accurate reflection, and update as appropriate.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) document on “audit 
committees – practical guidance for local authorities and police” sets out the guidance on 
the function and operations of audit committees. It represents CIPFA’s view of best practice 
and incorporates the position statement previously issued. 

1.2 The guidance states “the purpose of an audit committee is to provide those charged with 
governance independent assurance on the adequacy of the risk management framework, 
the internal control environment and the integrity of the financial reporting and annual 
governance processes. 

1.3 The Section 151 Officer has overarching responsibility for discharging the requirements for 
sound financial management, and to be truly effective requires an audit committee to 
provide and support challenge. 

1.4 Good audit committees are characterised by; balanced, objective, independent, 
knowledgeable and properly trained members, a membership that is supportive of good 
governance principles, a strong independently minded Chair, an unbiased attitude and the 
ability to challenge when required. 

1.5 It is therefore good practice to complete a regular self-assessment exercise against a 
checklist, to be satisfied that the committee is performing effectively. In addition, the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards also call for the committee to assess their remit and 
effectiveness, in relation to Purpose, Authority and Responsibility, to facilitate the work of 
this committee. This committee has been undertaking self-assessment exercises on a 
regular basis since 2008 and has acted where necessary to ensure full compliance with 
best practice.

36

Agenda Item 9



1.6 The first part of the assessment is a yes / no response and covers:
 Purpose and Governance;
 Functions of the Committee;
 Membership and Support; and 
 Effectiveness of the Committee. 

1.7 The second part of the exercise requires an assessment as to how the committee displays 
it is effective through the reports it receives, and is broken down into the following key 
areas:

 Promoting the principles of good governance and their application to decision 
making;

 Contributing to the development of an effective Audit Committee;
 Supporting the establishment of arrangements for the governance of risk and for 

effective arrangements to manage risks;
 Advising on the adequacy of the assurance framework and considering whether 

assurance is deployed efficiently and effectively; 
 Supporting the quality of the internal audit activity, particularly by underpinning its 

organisational independence;
 Aiding the achievement of the authority’s goals and objectives through helping to 

ensure appropriate governance, risk, controls and assurance arrangements;
 Supporting the development of robust arrangements for ensuring value for money; 
 Helping the authority to implement the values of good governance, including 

effective arrangements for countering fraud and corruption risks. 

1.8 At the Committee meeting on the 16 January 2020 the Committee reviewed the results of 
the completed self-assessment exercise carried out in October 2019.  

The Committee through self-assessment considered that it was able to demonstrate best 
practice in all areas and provided examples demonstrating effectiveness in areas 
considered key by CIPFA. No improvement actions were identified during the assessment. 
The Audit Committee skills matrix and CIPFA’s Position Statement were emailed to 
Members of the Committee for information as requested. 
 

1.9 It was agreed that the self-assessment exercise would be undertaken in October each year, 
however due to other more urgent matters occupying the Committee during the Pandemic, 
this exercise has been deferred to this February meeting. 
 

1.10 We therefore recommend that the outcomes of the October 2019 self-assessment 
questionnaire are considered by the committee to establish if any of the scoring needs to 
be amended and to comment on how they felt that the Committee has responded to the 
Pandemic, considering that meetings last year took place online for the first time. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The alternative approach would be for the Governance and Audit Committee not to 
complete the Self-Assessment exercise; however, this would result in no assurance being 
provided that the Committee is assisting the Council in achieving good corporate 
governance and is sufficiently proactive. 

37



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Completion of the Self-Assessment Checklist provides feedback on the effectiveness of the 
current arrangements and ensures that best practice is followed by the Committee, and 
good corporate governance is achieved.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Governance and Audit Committee can demonstrate that best practice is followed and 
that they are proactive in helping to raise the profile of internal control, risk management 
and financial reporting matters at the Council.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Governance and Audit Committee, through its terms of reference, helps to ensure that 
the service areas are working towards the efficient and effective delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 The Committee supports the oversight of the Council’s risk management framework, which 
will in turn ensure that the Council’s key risks are accurately reviewed and addressed. This 
is ensured by following best practice and adopting sound terms of reference.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 None.

Background papers: - None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emma Hodds, Head of Internal Audit 
Telephone Number: 01508 533791
Email: ehodds@s-norfolk.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting Faye Haywood, Internal Audit Manager 

Key Decision:  No

Exempt Decision:  No

Appendices attached to this report: Appendix 1 – Audit Committee Self-Assessment Checklist

38



Appendix 1

1

Self-assessment of good practice

This evaluation will support an assessment against recommended practice to inform and support the Audit Committee. This is a high-level review 
that incorporates the key principles set out in CIPFA’s Position Statement: Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police. Where an Audit 
Committee has a high degree of performance against the good practice principle’s then it is an indicator that the committee is soundly based 
and has in place knowledgeable membership. These are essential factors in developing an effective Audit Committee. 

Good Practice Questions Yes Partly No
Audit Committee purpose and governance √

1 Does the authority have a dedicated audit committee? √
2 Does the audit committee report directly to full council? √
3 Do the terms of reference clearly set out the purpose of the committee in accordance with CIPFA’s position 

statement?
√

4 Is the role and purpose of the audit committee understood and accepted across the authority? √
5 Does the audit committee provide support to the authority in meeting the requirements of good governance? √
6 Are the arrangements to hold the committee to accounts for its performance operating satisfactorily? √

Functions of the committee √
7 Do the committee’s terms of reference explicitly address all the core area identified in CIPFA’s position 

statement?
- Good governance
- Assurance framework
- Internal audit
- External audit
- Financial reporting 
- Risk management
- Value for money or best value
- Counter fraud and corruption 

√

8 Is an annual evaluation undertaken to assess whether the committee is fulfilling its terms of reference and that 
adequate consideration has been given to all core areas?

√

9 Has the audit committee considered the wider areas identified in CIPFA’s position statement and whether it 
would be appropriate for the committee to undertake them?

√

10 Where coverage of core areas has been found to be limited, are plans in place to address this? Not applicable

39



Appendix 1

2

11 Has the committee maintained its non-advisory role by not taking on any decision-making powers that are not 
in line with its core purpose?

√

Membership and support
12 Has an effective audit committee structure and composition of the board been selected?

This should include:
- Separation from the executive
- An appropriate mix of knowledge and skills among the membership
- A size of committee that is not unwieldy
- Where independent members are used, that they have been appointed using appropriate process

√

13 Does the chair of the committee have appropriate knowledge and skills? √
14 Are arrangements in place to support the committee with briefings and training? √
15 Has the membership of the committee been assessed against the core knowledge and skills framework and 

found to be satisfactory? 
√

16 Does the committee have good working relationships with key people and organisations, including external 
audit, internal audit and the chief finance officer?

√

17 Is adequate secretariat and administrative support to the committee provided? √
Effectiveness of the committee

18 Has the committee obtained feedback on its performance from those interacting with the committee or relying 
on its work?

√

19 Has the committee evaluated whether and how it is adding value to the organisation? √
20 Does the committee have an action plan to improve any areas of weakness? √

40



Appendix 1

3

Evaluating the Effectiveness of the Audit Committee

This assessment tool helps Audit Committee members to consider where it is most effective and where there may be scope to do more. To be 
considered effective, the Audit Committee should be able to identify evidence of its impact or influence linked to specific improvements.

Assessment Key:

5 Clear evidence is available from a number of sources that the committee is actively supporting the improvement across all aspects of 
this area. The improvements made are clearly identifiable.

4 Clear evidence from some sources that the committee is actively and effectively supporting improvement across some aspects of this 
area.

3 The committee has had mixed experience in supporting improvement in this area. There is some evidence that demonstrates their 
impact but there are also significant gaps.

2 There is some evidence that the committee has supported improvements, but the impact of this support is limited.

1 no evidence can be found that the audit committee has supported improvements in this area. 

Areas where the audit 
committee can add value by 
supporting improvement

Self-evaluation examples, areas of strength & weakness Assessment 
1-5

Promoting the principles of 
good governance and their 
application to decision making

The Committee meets regularly to question and challenge as appropriate, as shown 
through the minutes.

The Committee seeks to gain assurance as needed on the reports received. The 
Committee provides robust review of the Annual Governance Statement and the 
assurances underpinning it. The Governance and Audit Committee also discusses 
any significant constitutional changes.  

4

41



Appendix 1

4

The Committee works with key members to improve their understanding of the 
Annual Governance Statement and their contribution to it.

Through the reports received and the questions raised, the Committee supports 
reviews / audits of governance arrangements. The Committee regularly participates 
in self-assessments of governance arrangements.

Contributing to the development 
of an effective control 
environment

The Committee monitors the implementation of recommendations made by the 
auditors, and regularly challenges those that are overdue.

The Committee encourages ownership of the internal control framework by 
appropriate managers and calls managers to account as necessary / required. The 
Committee raises significant concerns over controls with appropriate senior 
managers through those presenting the reports and by calling Managers to attend 
the meeting.

4

Supporting the establishment of 
arrangements for the 
governance of risk and for 
effective arrangements to 
manage risks

The Committee reviews risk management arrangements, monitors improvements 
and holds risk owners to account for corporate risks. The Committee has also 
assisted in the development of the layout of the risk reports and the information 
contained therein, the Committee feeds into the risk management framework policy 
and strives for continuous improvement. 

4

Advising on the adequacy of the 
assurance framework and 
considering whether assurance 
is deployed efficiently and 
effectively

The Committee is moving towards identifying gaps or overlaps in assurance 
through the reports it receives, and often makes links between these reports. The 
Committee seeks to streamline assurance gathering and reporting where 
appropriate.

The Committee reviews and assesses the effectiveness of assurance providers e.g. 
internal audit, risk management, external audit through its questioning and 
challenging of the reports received. 

4

42



Appendix 1

5

Supporting the quality of the 
internal audit activity, 
particularly by underpinning its 
organisational independence

The Committee reviews the audit charter and functional reporting arrangements as 
part of the annual internal audit plans report brought to the Committee by the Head 
of Internal Audit. 

The Committee assesses the effectiveness of internal audit arrangements and 
supporting improvements through the annual report provided to the Committee by 
the Head of Internal Audit. The Committee recognises that internal audit is a key 
source of information for them to consider.

4

Aiding the achievement of the 
authority’s goals and objectives 
through helping to ensure 
appropriate governance, risk, 
control and assurance 
arrangements

The Committee reviews major projects and programmes to ensure that governance 
and assurance arrangements are in place through the reports received from internal 
audit and other management reports as requested. The Committee reviews the 
effectiveness of performance management arrangements through the specific 
internal audit reviews as appropriate. The Committee also looks at the corporate 
risks which are often impacted on by major projects.

4

Supporting the development of 
robust arrangements for 
ensuring value for money

The Committee evaluates the three E’s regularly and ensures that assurances on 
value for money arrangements is included in the assurances received by the 
Committee. The Committee considers how performance in value for money is 
evaluated as part of the AGS.

4

Helping the authority to 
implement the values of good 
governance, including effective 
arrangements for countering 
fraud and corruption risks

The Committee reviews the arrangements in place for countering fraud and 
corruption through regular review of the relevant policies.

The Committee recognises that fraud risks and the effectiveness of the 
organisations strategy to address those risks are highlighted through the reports 
received from internal audit as necessary and through the Annual Governance 
Statement.

4

43



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance 

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 11 February 2021

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

Subject: Accounting Policies 2020-21

Purpose: To review and agree the 2020-21 accounting policies in readiness for the 
review of the Statement of Accounts 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Governance and Audit Committee review and agree the accounting policies for 
2020-21 at appendix A

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Within the statement of accounts, the Council discloses the accounting policies it has 
applied to all material balances and transactions.  This report presents the proposed 
accounting policies to be adopted for the 2020-21 financial year.  The policies are 
prepared in line with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 
2020-21 (the Code).

It is good practice to consider and agree the accounting policies in advance of the 
production and approval of the draft accounts, so this report is an annual review by the 
Governance and Audit Committee.

1.2 There are no major areas of accounting change within the Code in 2020-21 as, once 
again, the change expected from IFRS 16 – Leases has been deferred.  This IFRS will not 
come into effect now until 2022-23.

1.3 Therefore, the accounting policies in Appendix A have not changed from 2020-21, except to 
update dates, years, etc.  The useful lives shown in the policies will be updated as needed 
when the capital accounts are closed in April.

1.4 As work on the statement of accounts will be underway until they are signed at the end of 
May, changes may be made to these policies if necessary and Governance and Audit 
Committee would be updated on any changes in their June meeting.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Governance and Audit Committee review and agree the Accounting Policies for 
2020-21 at Appendix A.

2.2 That Governance and Audit Committee review and make changes before agreeing the 
Accounting Policies for 2020-21 at Appendix A.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

44

Agenda Item 10



3.1 It is good practice to consider and agree the accounting policies in advance of the 
production and approval of the draft accounts.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By agreeing these policies early it assists with the early closure timetable that Local 
Authorities work to.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Financial 
5.1.1 The policies at appendix A underpin the Council's financial statement of accounts in line 

with the Code. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy
7.2 IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standard

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Accounting Policies 2020-21

45

file://bdcvmmgov01/mgReportDbDocs/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://bdcvmmgov01/mgReportDbDocs/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Note 1 – Accounting Policies
General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2020-21 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2021. The Council 
is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those Regulations require to be prepared in 
accordance with proper accounting practices.  These practices under Section 21 of the 2003 Act primarily comprise the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020-21, supported by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).  The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain 
categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular:

 Revenue from contracts with service recipients, whether for services or the provision of goods is recognised when (or as) the goods or services are 
transferred to the service recipient in accordance with the performance obligations in the contract.

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.

 Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for respectively as expenditure or income on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.

 Where income or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in 
the Balance Sheet. Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that might not be collected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents 
are investments that are instant access and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Council’s cash management.

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; and
 Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the 

losses can be written off; and
 Amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.

The Council is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation.  However, it is required to make an 
annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement.  Whilst the Council does not have an overall borrowing requirement, 

46



there is an amount implicit in the PFI repayment relating to Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).  Depreciation, revaluation, impairment losses and amortisation 
are therefore replaced by an adjusting transaction between the Capital Adjustment Account and the Movement in Reserves Statement which reverses out the 
amount charged so that there is no impact on the level of council tax.

Collection Fund
This account is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund.  The statement shows 
the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution of council tax and non-domestic rates (NNDR) to major 
preceptors, local authorities and the Government.
An allowance for the impairment of debt is calculated for the Collection Fund using the following bases:

 Council Tax – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding for each year based on the age of that debt.
 NNDR – An un-collectable percentage is applied to the debt outstanding based on the current collection status of that debt (i.e. under instalments, 

under enforcement, etc).
An allowance for impairment from NNDR appeals from the 2010 valuation list is calculated by taking the outstanding appeals at the Valuation Office (VO), 
categorising these by the rating list descriptions and applying an estimate to the likely success of each outstanding appeal using historical statistics of appeals 
settled in each category.  For NNDR appeals lodged relating to the 2017 valuation list the same process is used as under the 2010 list.  In addition an appeals 
allowance of 3% of net rates payable for the remainder of the 2017 appeals list is allowed for due to the length of time it is taking appeals to be lodged plus an 
additional 1% of net rates payable to allow for the additional reductions expected from the Covid pandemic.  In addition a review on high risk properties such 
as high rateable value, large infrastructure, change to charities, etc is undertaken and an estimate made for appeals on these properties if required.  

The council tax and NNDR income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement is the council’s share of accrued income for the year.  
However, regulations determine the amount of council tax and NNDR that must be included in the Council’s General Fund.  Therefore, the difference between 
the income included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund is taken 
to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and included as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  The Balance Sheet includes the 
Council’s share of the year end balances in respect of council tax and NNDR relating to arrears, impairment allowance for doubtful debts, overpayments and 
prepayments and appeals.

Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable During Employment
Short-term employee benefits, such as salaries and paid annual leave for current employees, are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of the year-
end.  They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render services to the Council and charged on an accrual basis to the 
relevant service line of the comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an 
officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service segment at 
the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a restructuring.
Post Employment Benefits
Employees of the Council are members of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), administered by Norfolk County Council, which provides defined 
benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees work for the Council. It is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme:

47



 The liabilities of the pension scheme attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method 
– i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions 
about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc and projections of projected earnings for current employees.

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.
 The assets of the Norfolk County Council pension fund attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their bid value.
 The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:

o Service cost comprising:
 Current Service Cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – allocated in the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the employees worked.
 Past Service Cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of service 

earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.

 Net Interest on the net defined liability, ie. Net interest expense for the Council – the change during the period in the net defined 
liability that arises from the passage of time charged to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement – this is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined liability at the beginning of the period – taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments.

o Re-measurements comprising:
 Return on Plan Assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined liability – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 Actuarial Gains and Losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions 

made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

o Contributions paid to the Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted 
for as an expense

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension 
fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them 
with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.  The negative balance that arises 
on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash 
flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.

Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue.  Two types of event can be identified:

48



 Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
 Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where 

a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts.

Fair Value Measurement
The Council measures some of its non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and investment properties, at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell as asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value measurement 
assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Council measures the fair value of an asset using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest.

When measuring fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  The Council uses valuation 
techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.  Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Council’s financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as follows:

 Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Council can access at the measurement date
 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or indirectly
 Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset.

Financial Instruments
Financial Liabilities
The policy for any financial liabilities the Council holds which are classed as leases or PFI are detailed within the policy for that classification.

Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cash flow characteristics.  The Council holds financial assets measured at:

 Amortised cost

The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows.  Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument and are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at their amortised cost.  Annual credits for interest receivable are made to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, based on the carrying amount of the 
investment/asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.

49



Government Grants and Contributions
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council 
when there is reasonable assurance that;

 the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments and 
 the grants or contributions will be received.  

Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 
using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 
the transferor.

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income (for non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account.  
Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Account are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.

Certain grants are general grants allocated by Central Government directly to local authorities as revenue funding, these are non-ringfenced and are credited 
to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Details of these grants can be found in note 17 Grant 
Income.

Interest in Companies and Other Entities
The Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee - This involves a group of authorities coming together to fulfil a joint purpose but it does not constitute a legal 
entity in its own right.  It is accounted for in the respective authorities Statements of Accounts as a shared service.  This requires the authority’s share of 
partnership transactions (expenditure and income and balances if applicable) to be included within the relevant lines within the authority’s accounts.

Breckland Bridge Ltd – This is the Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV) company set up between the Council and The Land Group Ltd.  The company has been 
set up to achieve financial returns and accelerate long term regeneration and economic growth to projects in the Council area with a view to maximising revenue 
whilst securing the economic, social, and environmental well-being of the Council area.  This company is classified as a Joint Venture in the Councils accounts 
and group accounts are prepared on this basis.  Please refer to the group accounts section of this document.

The Related Party Transactions note give details on these entities.

50



Investment Property
Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way 
to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and best use.  
Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end.  Valuations are in accordance with the Statements of 
Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance Notes issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  Gains and losses on revaluation and on disposal 
are posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the ‘Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings not included in Cost of Services’ line and result 
in a gain for the General Fund Balance.  However revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on 
the General Fund Balance.  The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted 
to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any disposal proceeds greater than £10,000) the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Where part of an investment property is replaced (i.e. subsequent capital expenditure), the carrying amounts of the parts replaced are de-recognised (where 
material) and the cost of replacement is recognised in the carrying value of the property.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, 
plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.  Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land 
and buildings elements are usually considered separately for classification.

Authority as Lessor
Operating Leases – Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to the 
relevant line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (i.e. Surplus/Deficit on trading undertakings).  Credits are made on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (eg. there is a rent free period).

Finance leases – Where the Council grants a finance lease over a property, the relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal.  At the 
commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  A gain, representing the Council’s net investment in the lease, is credited to the 
same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the 
asset at the time of disposal), matched by a lease (long term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.  Expected residual values of finance leases are reviewed 
every 5 years.

Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between:
 A charge for the acquisition of the interest in the asset - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received); and
 Finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

51



The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and 
is required to be treated as a capital receipt.  Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts 
Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease is to be settled by the payment of rentals in future financial 
years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When the future 
rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down the lease debtor.  At this point the deferred capital 
receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for 
capital financing.  Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.

Overheads and Support Services
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the council’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the non-current assets needed to provide the service passes 
to the PFI contractor.  Breckland entered into a 33.5 year PFI contract for the provision of leisure management and facilities in December 2005.  Changes to 
the 2009 Statement of Recommended Practice resulted in the council re-examining its accounting treatment in the context of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and in particular under the interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee and determining that the 
arrangement should be accounted for as a service concession arrangement within the scope of IFRIC 12. 

The annual unitary payment is split between lease payments, service & revenue expenditure and asset lifecycle costs.  The allocation of this unitary payment 
is estimated based on the terms of the payment mechanism in the PFI contract.  Therefore the annual unitary charge for each facility is allocated 50% to the 
lease payment and the remaining 50% to cover service & revenue costs and asset lifecycle costs.  The amounts are allocated between the two sites based on 
information in the operators’ model giving a split of 55% Thetford and 45% Dereham.  A mark up of 2% has been applied in order to estimate the fair value of 
the real maintenance and lifecycle services.  This mark up has been calculated as the difference between the total real costs (as per the operator model) and 
50% of the unitary charge (in real terms).
Property used under the PFI contract is recognised as an asset on the Balance Sheet, with a related liability also recognised.  The fair value of the PFI assets 
at completion of construction was determined in reference to the construction costs disclosed in the operators’ financial model.  The existing buildings at the 
Thetford site have been included at their net book value at the relevant date.  Where the property is enhanced by the PFI operator, the fair value of the 
enhancement is recognised in the Balance Sheet of the Council.  A day 1 revaluation gain has been recorded in relation to the District Valuer (DV) valuation 
carried out at 1 April 2007.  Assets have been split between the Thetford and Dereham sites with the split of construction costs between the two centres being 
based on the assumption applied for unitary payments (55% Thetford and 45% Dereham).  The assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the useful 
life of the asset as estimated by the valuer.

52



Capital lifecycle costs are treated as a prepayment amount (allocated on a straight line basis over the contract term).  When the capital improvement works are 
undertaken by the contractor (based on their financial model) the relevant amount of the capital expenditure will then be reclassified from prepayments to non-
current assets.  Assets are re-valued every 3 years as part of the Council’s rolling programme of valuations and the non-current asset values are updated as 
necessary (in line with the Property, Plant and Equipment Policy).

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes 
and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable 
that the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is 
charged as an expense when it is incurred.
A de-minimus level of £20,000 has been adopted for the inclusion of non-current assets in all categories with the exception of surplus land, which has no de-
minimus level, vehicles and equipment which have a de-minimus level of £10,000 and grant funding received which also has no de-minimus.  

Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising; the purchase price, any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management and (if applicable) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and 
restoring the site on which it is located.  

Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:
 Council Offices – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV)
 Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated historical cost
 Surplus Assets – fair value, estimated at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective
 All Other Assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV)

Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  In practice assets are valued within a five year rolling programme but due to the grouping of 
classes of assets they are usually valued every three years.  Valuations are in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the 
professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).
Increases in valuation are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.  Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement where they arise from the reversal of a valuation loss previously charged to a service.
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

53



 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date 
have been consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.

Impairment
Assets are assessed each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences 
are estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss 
is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by:

 Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for an asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains).

 Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 
construction).  
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:

 Buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 2 to 99 years)
 Car Parks – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (ranges from 4 to 28 years)
 Infrastructure – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer (19.5 to 25 years)
 Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight line method using internally assessed useful economic lives (ranges from 1 to 10 years)

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation 
which would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Componentisation
Where an item of PPE asset has major components whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset and whose useful life differs, the components 
are depreciated separately, unless the componentisation makes no material difference to the overall depreciation charge.  The following de-minimus levels 
have been set for componentisation of an asset (as the values are not considered significant in relation to componentisation):

 Assets with a total cost of £100,000 or less will not be subject to componentisation
 Any components with a cost of 10% or less of the total cost of the asset will not be componentised separately

Componentisation is considered for new valuations, enhancement expenditure and acquisition expenditure carried out on or after 1 April 2010.  Where a 
component is replaced or restored (i.e. enhancement expenditure) the carrying amount of the old component shall be de-recognised before reflecting the 
enhancement.

54



The Council recognises the following levels of components:
 Substructure
 Superstructure
 Internal services
 External works

Componentisation is not applicable to land as land is non-depreciable and is considered to have an infinite life.

Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, 
it is reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses recognised in the Surplus 
or Deficit in the Provision of Services.  Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their 
carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Assets Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell.

When an asset is disposed of or de-commissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether PPE or Assets Held for Sale) is written off 
to Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Any receipts from the disposal 
are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  

Amounts received for disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts, receipts below this amount are classed as revenue income.  The written-
off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Depreciation, impairment losses and revaluations are not permitted to have an impact on the General Fund Balance, they are therefore reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Provisions and Contingent Assets/Liabilities
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that will probably require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits 
or service potential and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain.

Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council 
becomes aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the likely settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are 
charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a settlement is required (or a lower settlement than estimated is made) the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.

55



In the event that a possible liability (or asset) arises which may require settlement by a transfer of economic benefits, but the timing and amount of the transfer 
is uncertain and the obligation will only be confirmed by occurrence or otherwise of a future event, then this will not be recognised in the Balance Sheet, but will 
be shown in a note to the accounts as a contingent asset or liability.

Reserves
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in the year and is therefore 
included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back 
into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against council tax for the expenditure.

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments and retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council.

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Council has determined to 
meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement of Reserves Statement from the General Fund 
balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so there is no impact on the level of council tax.

56



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O'Mahony, Executive Director - Strategy & Governance Executive  

To: Governance and Audit Committee, 11th February 2021
Full Council, 25th February

Author: Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner

Subject: Risk Management Policy 

Purpose: To present the the Council's risk management policy for review

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Governance and Audit Committee recommend the adoption of the draft Risk 
Management Policy to full council on 25th February.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Breckland Council currently adheres to a risk management framework in order to manage 
and mitigate against risks at all levels of the organisation. This policy now needs to be 
renewed by both Governance and Audit Committee and full council. As stated in the policy 
itself, once renewed this policy runs for 18 months.

1.2 The current policy is recognised by the council’s external audit team as a best practice 
example for the rest of the audit consortium. The Governance and Audit committee also 
had significant input in shaping the current policy

1.3 The council is currently in the process of recruiting to a temporary post performance 
framework manager, to identify, enhance and implement a new framework across the 
council. At the time of writing the council have been unsuccessful in recruiting to this post.

1.4 If a decision was made to formally review the Risk Management Policy for a further 18 
months, this would limit the scope of the performance framework managers role and may 
result in them either being unable to make alterations to the risk policy or having to bring 
an entirely new risk management policy for approval.

1.5 It is therefore proposed, that an short extension is given to the current risk management 
framework of six months, to allow for this work to be completed. This will allow for the 
committee to be properly engaged with and for the performance framework manage to 
fully scrutinise and make recommendations regarding risk management.

1.6 During this six-month period, risk management would therefore continue as normal, with 
Governance and Audit still receiving both verbal and written update on the council’s 
strategic risks, in line with the agreed reporting style.

1.7 Assuming that the Governance and Audit Committee is content with the extension of the 
current policy, this report seeks for them to make a recommendation to full council to 
adopt policy extension.

2.0 OPTIONS

57

Agenda Item 11



2.1 Governance and Audit Committee to review the risk management policy and make a 
recommendation to full council to extend the policy six months. 

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 This report is seeking for the Governance and Audit Committee to review the risk 
management policy and make a recommendation to full council that it be adopted. A short 
extension of the policy will allow for both the committee and performance framework 
manager to be properly engaged in the renewal process.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By formal adopting the current working practices relating to how the Council approaches 
risk management it will ensure that there is a robust framework to work within. This 
framework will provide assurance that risks are appropriately managed but do not inhibit 
innovation)

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 

implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 The constitution sets out the legal requirement for the Council to have a formal approach to 

how it manages risk. The constitution delegates power to the Governance and Audit 
Committee to monitor strategic risks.

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 A robust yet flexible approach to risk management is fundamental to enabling the   Council 

achieving its corporate priorities as set out in the Council’s corporate plan

5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6 Data Protection
5.6.1  It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct data protection implications 

5.7 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.7.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.

58



5.8 Financial 
5.8.1 The risk management policy will influence how the Council manages its financial 

requirements in an appropriate way. 

5.9 Health & Wellbeing
5.9.1 (Add details or remove heading) 

5.10 Reputation 
5.10.1 The risk management policy helps identify potential impacts on the Council’s reputation and 

helps to mitigate these by the adoption of controls to reduce or prevent their impact. 

5.11 Risk Management 
5.11.1 The risk management policy sets out the approach to how the Council manages risk 

throughout all aspects of its business. 

5.12 Safeguarding
5.12.1 (Add details or remove heading) 

5.13 Safeguarding
5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result 

of this report.

5.14 Staffing
5.14.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the Council's   
……… corporate priorities.  

5.15 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.15.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 N/A

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner
Telephone Number: 07766 510582
Email: ryan.pack@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Breckland Council Risk management policy

59



 
Page 1 of 21                                                                                                                 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

RISK 
 

MANAGEMENT 
 

FRAMEWORK 
 
 
 
 

 

60



 
 

Page 2 of 20                                                                                                                 

Table of Contents 
 
Number Heading              Page   
                     
1.   Introduction......................................................................................................................................4 
2.   Background .....................................................................................................................................4 
3.                       Definition....................................................................................................................5 
4.                       Organisation..............................................................................................................5 
5.                       Arrangements ...........................................................................................................7 
6.                       Corporate Governance............................................................................................8 
7.   Leadership and Responsibility......................................................................................................8 
8.   Training ............................................................................................................................................8 
9.   Resourcing Risk Management .....................................................................................................9 
10.  Role of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board .......................................................................9 
11.  Risk Management Role in the Governance and Audit Committee ........................................9 
12.  Risk Identification ........................................................................................................................10 
13.  Involvement of Other Related Groups......................................................................................10 
14.  External Contacts ........................................................................................................................10 
15.  Partnerships .................................................................................................................................11 
16.  Methodology.................................................................................................................................11 
17.  Risk Appetite (Targets)...............................................................................................................12 
18.  Risk Management Approach .....................................................................................................12 
19.  Reviews ........................................................................................................................................12 
Appendix One   Shared Leadership – Role and Responsibilities ...............................................13 

 Appendix Two   Risk Scoring Maxtrix and Criteria ................................................................ 16 
 

61



 
Page 3 of 21                                                                                                                 

 

1. Introduction 
 
The fundamental principles adopted by the Council on Risk Management are 
described in the policy statement and procedure as set out in this document. 
Adopting and implementing the framework detailed will achieve compliance 
with the policy. 
 

2. Background 
 
Councils face a wide variety of risks including physical risks to people or 
property, financial loss, failure of service delivery, information management 
and damage to reputation. Risk for this purpose is defined as "the possibility 
of an event occurring that will have an impact on the achievement of 
objectives, reputation, or service delivery". 
 
Good risk management is a key tool in assisting a Council to manage 
uncertainty in order to enable it to better achieve its corporate objectives. Risk 
management is intended to be a planned and systematic approach to the 
identification, assessment and management of the risks facing the Council. It 
is essential that steps are taken to effectively manage those risks. Risk 
management supports innovative solutions as it carefully considers the 
benefits, alongside the risks, that may occur.   
 
The traditional means of protecting against the more obvious risks has been 
through insurance.  However, there are many risks which cannot be insured 
against and which must be addressed in different ways. Even in the case of 
those risks which are insurable, action should be taken to reduce the potential 
risks with consequent savings of premiums and disruption of work. 
 
 

Policy Statement 
 
 
3. Definition  
 
We define risk as the possibility of an event occurring that will have an impact 
on the achievement of objectives, reputation, or service delivery.   
The appraisal and management of risk will be part of our business planning, 
project management and change management process as well as how we 
effectively manage our working partnerships. 
It is the responsibility of every officer and elected member to take an active 
role in the identification and appropriate management of risk across the 
Council. 

62



 
Page 4 of 21                                                                                                                 

We will use risk management to promote innovation as well as to help secure 
our objectives. This will be achieved through the appropriate use of risk 
appetites. 
 
4. Organisation 
This risk management strategy will be subject to endorsement by the 
Governance and Audit Committee.  
The Director of Strategy and Governance is responsible for risk management.  
The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team (CIP) will support the 
Director of Strategy and Governance in assessing risks likely to have a 
significant impact on the achievement of the Council’s objectives.  
All officers and elected members in Breckland are responsible for risk 
management and the breakdown of responsibilities are detailed further in 
Appendix One. Some of those responsibilities include:  

• All officers must be aware of their roles and responsibilities in risk 
management. 

• All Senior Managers will implement risk management within their 
service. 

• Risk assessments will be carried out as a routine part of service 
planning and management activities. 

• The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team are to be 
notified of any significant changes or if a risk materialises to enable 
them to ensure that appropriate and adequate mitigations are in place 
and recorded.  

• The Director of Strategy and Governance and the Director of Growth 
and Commercialisation are to be informed if financing measures are 
required to be put in place. 

• A risk culture will be built across the department that does not inhibit 
the Council in continuing to be innovative. 

• Key risks to service objectives, projects, partnerships and change 
management processes under their control are identified, recorded 
and managed on the Council’s performance management system. 

• Those risks that have a corporate impact are to be considered for 
inclusion in the Strategic Risk Register. 

 
The Director of Strategy and Governance is responsible for coordinating the 
Council’s approach to risk management. The Corporate Improvement and 
Performance Team is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of this risk 
management strategy and for reviewing compliance with controls introduced 
to manage risks. 

The process seeks to contribute to the Council’s emerging three lines of 
defence approach to assurance. In this model Risk Management would be 

63



 
Page 5 of 21                                                                                                                 

recognised as a second line of defence and would contribute towards the 
Council’s overall levels of assurance.   
The Institute of Internal Auditors and the Institute of Directors endorse the 
'Three Lines of Defence' model as a way of explaining the relationship 
between Council functions and as a guide to how responsibilities should be 
divided: 
 

• the first line of defence – functions that own and manage risk 
• the second line of defence – functions that oversee or specialise in risk 

management, compliance 

• the third line of defence – functions that provide independent 
assurance, above all internal audit. 

 
 
 
 
5. Arrangements 
 
Reports to Committees will include an appraisal of all associated risks and 
their implications. 

 
Corporate risks will be identified and: 

• assessed for likelihood and impact 
• mitigating controls identified and recorded 
• allocated a responsible officer for the mitigating controls  cost 

implications of controls considered 
 

64



 
Page 6 of 21                                                                                                                 

Risk Management training will be provided to senior managers with the aim of 
ensuring that they have the skills necessary to identify, appraise and control 
the risks associated with the services they provide. elected members will 
receive training on risk so that they can consider the implications of risk in 
their work for the Council. 

 
Every partnership, project team or change management team will appraise 
strategic and operational risks and make provision for dealing with those risks 
appropriately. This will be done in a way that does not prevent innovation or 
opportunity, such as income generation. An example of this would be 
ensuring that the purchase of commercial property is not inhibited due to any 
perceived aversion to risk.    
 

Procedure 
 

6. Corporate Governance 
 
Effective risk management is an essential element of good corporate 
governance which, in turn, supports effective decision making and ultimately 
contributes to improved performance and providing assurance. 
 
The risk management framework aims to: 
 
• clarify responsibilities for identifying and managing risks 
• ensure that an appropriate level of risk management is consistently 

applied across the Council 
• increase awareness and use of risk management as a normal element of 

service management and improvement 
• facilitate sharing of experience and good practice across the Council 
• act as a second line of defence in the Council’s three lines of defence 

assurance model 
• embed the concept of risk management in the Council and ensure that 

accurate and relevant statements are made in the Annual Governance 
Statement 

 
 

7. Leadership and Responsibility 
 
Given the diversity of Council services and the wide range of potential risks, it 
is essential that responsibility for identifying and taking action to address 
potential risks is clear.  
 
Responsibility for effective risk management rests with every officer and 
elected member of the Council. 

65



 
Page 7 of 21                                                                                                                 

 
The Chief Executive Officer is the officer with overall responsibility for 
ensuring adherence to the Council’s policy on Risk Management.  
 
The framework of roles and responsibilities in Appendix One shows how 
these are allocated.  
 

8. Training 
 
Individual officers and members will have different needs and these can be 
met with different methods.  These will include appropriate awareness raising 
sessions as well as more formal training. External providers will be identified 
to deliver specific training and, where appropriate, in house training will be 
used. 
 

9. Resourcing Risk Management 
 
Risk management is not a new issue and every member and officer is 
responsible for considering risk implications as they relate to the actions of 
their day to day work. However, it is recognised that the concept of risk 
management needs to become formalised and part and parcel of the culture 
of the Council.  
 
At Executive Management Team level, the Director of Strategy and 
Governance is the designated risk champion. 
 
The Corporate Improvement and Performance Team will be the link for all 
aspects of risk management. 
 

10. Role of the Performance, Risk and Audit Board 
 
Whilst acknowledging the wide variety of risks that face the Council, and the 
differing circumstances that apply in different services, it is essential that 
there is some consistency in the way that risks are identified and assessed. 
This helps to ensure that all areas of risk are adequately considered and 
relative priorities for action can be judged. 
 
The Performance, Risk and Audit Board will provide this consistency of 
approach. The Board will act as a link between project managers, specialised 
groups dealing with particular areas of risk, senior management and elected 
members. The Board will review updates on both corporate and operational 
risks on a quarterly basis and take any remedial actions necessary; including 
escalation to the Executive Management Team and the Governance and 
Audit Committee as appropriate. 

66



 
Page 8 of 21                                                                                                                 

 
Quarterly updates on the Strategic Risk Register will be provided to the 
Executive Management Team and the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 

11. Risk Management Role in the Governance and Audit Committee 
 
The Governance and Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
arrangements in place for the identification, monitoring and management of 
strategic risk. 
 
To provide the Governance and Audit Committee with the necessary 
information to undertake these responsibilities, progress updates on the 
Strategic Risk Register are reported quarterly at Governance and Audit 
Committee meetings. 
 
 

67



 
Page 9 of 21                                                                                                                 

12. Risk Identification 
 
To meet the requirements of this framework, risks must be capable of being 
identified at any level, and by anybody, within the Council.  
 
All officers will be responsible for identifying risks and ensuring that these are 
recorded and managed through the Council’s corporate performance system. 
Service managers and team leaders will have overall responsibility for 
ensuring that all risks relating to their service area are identified, recorded, 
mitigated and managed. These will include key risks to service objectives, 
projects, partnerships and change management processes under their service 
area.  
 
Service/Operational risks will be included as an agenda item on Performance, 
Risk and Audit Board meetings quarterly. The purpose of this is to review 
whether any further mitigation is required, whether additions, deletions or any 
other changes need to be made. Where an operational risk retains a high risk 
score despite mitigation for three quarterly reporting periods it will be 
escalated to become a strategic risk. 
 
Any risk can, if appropriate, be escalated to being a strategic risk through the 
Director of Strategy & Governance, Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Team and the Executive Management Team. 
 
The Strategic Risk Register will be reviewed on a quarterly basis and updated 
to reflect any changes to the risks currently included and to include any new 
risks identified. Currently reported strategic risks which are identified as 
needing to be changed to operational or no longer a risk as fully mitigated, will 
be removed from the strategic register following the report to the Governance 
and Audit Committee that advises of the decision to demote or remove. 
 

13. Involvement of Other Related Groups 
 
The Council’s Internal Audit function, as the third line of defence, also 
contribute to the management of risk. The work of Internal Audit is based on a 
needs and risk assessment process that identifies and focuses resources on 
higher risk areas. Audit findings are reported to the relevant Director and 
Senior Manager together with recommendations for improvement and an 
action plan. Checks are undertaken by Internal Audit and the Corporate 
Improvement & Performance Team to ensure agreed recommendations are 
implemented. 
 

14. External Contacts 
 

68



 
Page 10 of 21                                                                                                                 

The potential risks faced by the Council are, in many cases, similar to those 
faced by other authorities and it is practical and cost effective to learn from the 
experience of others. In order to share risk management information and 
experiences, the Council has established networks with other authorities and 
agencies.  
 

15. Partnerships 
 
A Partnership Policy is available and outlines the Council’s approach to 
assessing risks for partnerships. The policy explains the steps that should be 
taken to assess risks before the decision is made to enter into a partnership 
and also how to undertake ongoing monitoring of risk once a partnership has 
been established. The matrix for partnership risks is set out in appendix two of 
this document. 
 

16. Methodology 
 
A methodology for identifying, assessing and managing risk within the Council 
has been developed. This methodology has the advantage of being relatively 
straightforward to use and can be applied to both the strategic risks of the 
Council and as part of the routine service, project planning and change 
management processes (operational risks).  
 
Once a risk has been identified it is essential to determine the level of impact 
and likelihood. The impact and likelihood criteria are set out in Appendix 2. 
 
The Strategic Risk Register is held by the Corporate Improvement and 
Performance Team and published through the Council’s corporate 
performance system. The format of the register is as below: 
 

Title Description 
Original 
Score Controls/ 

Mitigation 

Current 
Risk 

Score 
Impact Likeli- 

hood 

Trend 
(last 
quarter) 

Latest 
Note 

Latest 
Update 
Date 

Target 
Impact 

Target 
Likelihood 

 
The table below sets out an explanation of each of the fields contained within 
the Corporate Risk register: - 
 
Title Title of Risk 
Description Description of the risk before mitigation 
Original score This is the original risk score (Impact x Likelihood) 
Controls/Mitigation This is the mitigating actions and controls put in place to 

reduce the risk 
Current Risk Score This is the risk score at the present time with the mitigations 

included 
Impact This is the current risk impact score (see Appendix 2) 

69



 
Page 11 of 21                                                                                                                 

Likelihood This is the current risk Likelihood score (see Appendix 2) 
Trend (last quarter) This highlights the direction of travel compared to the 

previous quarter 
Latest Note This provides details on latest actions taken 
Latest Update Date This is the date the latest update was provided 
Target Impact This is the target impact score that the Council has deemed 

to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2) 
Target Likelihood This is the target likelihood score that the Council has 

deemed to be acceptable for this risk (see Appendix 2) 

 
 

17. Risk Appetite (Targets) 
 
Risk appetite refers to the Council’s attitude towards risk, which in turn dictates 
the amount of risk that it considers acceptable. As a result, risk appetite refers 
to our willingness to tolerate a particular level of exposure to specific risks. The 
appetite is also a function of our capacity to bear risk which should not be 
exceeded. 
 

18. Risk Management Approach 
 
The development of a consistent corporate approach to risk management 
needs to be done in a methodical and proportionate way in order to avoid the 
creation of a self-defeating bureaucratic burden. 
 
To ensure that risk management is handled in the most efficient way within the 
Council, risk is included as part of the corporate planning process and the 
Council’s performance framework to ensure the quick identification emerging 
risks and changes to identified risks. 
 
The following chart (from bottom up) shows how a risk could be identified and 
escalated: 
 

 Strategic Risk Register Executive Management Team  

 ↑  
 Service/Operational Risk Register Service Manager adds via CIP 

 ↑  
 Evaluate and decide action Service Manager 

 ↑  
 Risk identified All Officers & Elected Members 
   

 

70



 
Page 12 of 21                                                                                                                 

19. Reviews 
 
The Framework will be reviewed by the Governance and Audit Committee on 
an 18 month basis and published on the Breckland intranet and internet. The 
Strategic Risk Register will be reviewed by the Executive Management Team 
on a quarterly basis and the Governance and Audit Committee a minimum of 
every three months and published through the Council’s corporate 
performance system. 

APPENDIX ONE       
  Shared Leadership – Role and Responsibilities 
 
Everyone has a role to play in an integrated risk management framework. 
Combining shared leadership with a team approach will help contribute to its 
ultimate success. Roles identified at present are: 
 
GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Approving the Risk Management Framework which includes the Risk 
Management Policy and Strategy. 

 
• Providing proactive leadership and direction on Risk Management 

Governance issues and champion Risk Management throughout the 
Council. 

 
• Receiving progress reports on the Strategic Risk Register at least 

quarterly. 
 

• Monitoring that an adequate risk management framework and 
associated control environment is in place. 

 
• Monitoring arrangements for the identification, monitoring and 

management of strategic risks within the Council 
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Promoting Risk Management and its benefits throughout the Council. 
 

• Overall responsibility for securing adherence to the Council’s Policy on 
Risk Management. 

 
• Appointing a Director to take responsibility for risk management. 

 

71



 
Page 13 of 21                                                                                                                 

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM (EMT) 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Considering risks attached to proposals for new / changing policies and 
service delivery arrangements. 

 
• Ensuring that this framework is applied throughout all areas of the 

Council. 
 

• Receiving progress reports on the risk reduction programme and 
propose revisions to the Strategic Risk Register. 

 
• Supporting the Director of Strategy and Governance in assessing risks 

likely to have a significant impact on the achievement of the Council’s 
objectives.   

 
DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY AND GOVERNANCE 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Assessing risks likely to have a significant impact on the achievement 
of the Council’s objectives. 

 
• Coordinating the Council’s approach to risk management.  

 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Implementing risk management within their services. 
• Identifying, recording and managing key risks to service objectives, 

project, partnership and change management processes under their 
control are identified. 

• Ensuring their managers carry out risk assessments as a routine part 
of service planning and management activities. 

• Ensuring any risks that have a corporate impact are reported for 
consideration for inclusion in Strategic Risk Register. 

• Building a risk aware culture across the department, through all 
officers. 

 
CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT AND PERFORMANCE TEAM 
 
Responsibilities include: 

72



 
Page 14 of 21                                                                                                                 

 
• Monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of this risk 

management strategy and for reviewing compliance with controls 
introduced to manage risks. 
 

• Coordinating risk management activity across the Council. 
 

• Reporting on risk management activity to EMT and members. 
 

• Maintaining a corporate strategic risk register and liaise with Service 
Managers relating to operational risks. 

 
• Providing risk management training for officers and elected members, 

appropriate to their needs and responsibilities. 
 

• Providing advice and assistance as required. 
 

• Reviewing the Risk Management Framework on an 18 month basis. 
 
SENIOR MANAGERS 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Developing action plans in relation to corporate strategic risks as they 
relate to their service area. 

 
• Identifying risks attached to proposals for new / changed policies and 

service delivery arrangements. 
 

• Assisting with the identification and recording of all key risks to 
services, projects, partnerships and change management processes. 

 
ALL OFFICERS 
 
Responsibilities include: 
 

• Maintaining an awareness of risk management principles and take 
responsibility for identifying and managing risk within their own working 
environment. 

 
• Applying risk management to those risks requiring further action, 

particularly new developments and project work. 
 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

73



 
Page 15 of 21                                                                                                                 

Internal Audit reports to management on the Council’s performance under the 
Risk Management Framework and the adequacy and effectiveness of systems 
of risk management. 
 
EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 
External Audit reports to Senior Management on the Council’s performance on 
risk management. 
 
ELLECTED MEMBERS 
 
Elected members are responsible for identifying the risks they become aware 
of in the course of their activities as members, and ensuring such risks are 
appropriately recorded. 
 
 

74



 
Page 16 of 21                                                                                                                 

APPENDIX TWO  

RISK SCORING CRITERIA AND MATRIX 
 

 

 

Likelihood: 
 

Likelihood score 1 2 3 4 5 

Definition Rare Unlikely Possible Likely Almost certain 

Description The likelihood 
of the risk has 
been minimised 
to a negligible 
possibility 

The risk is 
technically 
possible but an 
occurrence is 
not foreseeable 
in the 
mediumlong 
term 

The risk is a real 
possibility but 
the likelihood of 
an occurrence in 
the 
shortmedium 
term is small 

The risk is 
probably going 
to occur at 
some point in 
the medium 
term, possibly 
sooner 

The risk is 
probably going 
to occur 
imminently 

Timeframe Will occur at 
some point in 
next 50 years 

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 25 
years 

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 10 
years 

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next 5 
years 

Will occur at 
some point in 
the next year 

Probability 10% or less Between 10-30% Between 3050% Between 
5085% 

85% or more 

 

75



 
Page 17 of 21                                                                                                                 

 
Where the probability and timing score differently, a judgement should be made as to the correct likelihood score. 
 
Impact 
Strategic Risks 

Impact score 1 2 3 4 5 

Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical 

Political risk Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
decisions 

No scrutiny of decisions 
takes place 

Scrutiny process publicly 
questioned or criticised 

Resignation of Leader, 
Cabinet Member, Chief 
Executive or Director 

Authority placed in 
special measures, DCLG 
appoints administrators 

Reputation risk Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage 

Negative national press 
coverage for more than 
one day,  

Negative national press 
coverage for more than one 
week, public criticism from 
local partners 

Public criticism from MP, 
LGA, DCLG, County Council 
or other national body 

International negative 
press coverage 

Financial risk Up to 1% of authority 
budget 

Up to 5% of authority 
budget 

Up to 10% of authority budget Up to 15% of authority 
budget 

Over 15% of authority 
budget 

Legal risk Authorities’ actions’ 
legality repeatedly 
questioned in public 

Council decisions 
overturned 

Damages or similar claim 
sought against authority 

Multiple damages claims 
sought against authority 

Authority in breach of 
law, criminal charges 
brought 

Disruption risk Total service outage for 
one day or less 

Total service outage for 
several days 

Total service outage for more 
than a week 

Total service outage for 
more than three weeks 

Multiple services 
unable to operate 

Environmental risk Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Long term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to rectify 

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance 

Permanent 
environmental damage 
with significant impact 

Contractual risk Major contract 
renegotiation required 

Service reduction 
dictated by contractor’s 
ability to operate 

Service provision significantly 
altered or sanction clauses 
invoked 

Contracted service failure 
and/or termination of 
contract 

Abrupt contracted 
service failure without 
contingency 

76



 
Page 18 of 21                                                                                                                 

Asset & Infrastructure 
risk 

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement 

Widespread network 
issues, key vehicle 
damaged 

Council facilities inaccessible, 
key vehicle needs replacing 

Council facilities damaged, 
multiple vehicles need 
replacing, key 
infrastructure outage 

Council facilities 
destroyed, key 
infrastructure 
destroyed 

Health and Safety risk Individual receives minor 
injuries  

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries 

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life or criminal assault 

Multiple losses of life, 
widespread criminal 
assault 

Project risk impacts 

Impact score 1 2 3 4 5 

Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical 

Political risk Residents unaware of 
authority’s actions 

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions limited 

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions process 
blocked 

Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
actions 

No scrutiny of actions 
takes place 

Reputation risk Increased complaints for 
less than one week 

Increased complaints for 
more than one week 

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one week 

Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage 

Negative national press 
coverage over several 
days. Public criticism from 
MP, LGA, County Council 
or national service body 

Financial risk Up to 1% of project budget Up to 5% of project 
budget 

Up to 10% of project 
budget 

Up to 15% of project 
budget 

Over 15% of project 
budget 

Legal risk Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(<1 month) 

Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(1-6 months) 

Delays due to legal 
clarifications being sought 
(>6 months) 

Project operations 
potentially subject to 
legal challenge, project on 
hold until resolved 

Project operations 
potentially in breach of 
legislation, project 
terminated 

Disruption risk Individual officers having 
work disrupted  

Multiple officers unable 
to work 

Total service outage for 
one day or less 

Total service outage for 
several days 

Total service outage for 
more than a week 

77



 
Page 19 of 21                                                                                                                 

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated area 

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area 

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to 
rectify 

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance 

Contractual risk Negative impact on key 
partner relationship 

Minor contract 
renegotiation required 

Major contract 
renegotiation required 

Project aims or goal 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked 

Project failure and/or 
termination of contract 

Asset & Infrastructure 
risk 

Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement 

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement 

Widespread network 
issues, vehicle damaged 

Council properties 
inaccessible, vehicle need 
replacing 

Council properties 
damaged, multiple 
vehicles need replacing, 
key infrastructure outage 

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness 

Individual receives minor 
injuries  

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries 

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life 

 
Partnership risk impacts 

Impact score 1 2 3 4 5 

Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical 

Political risk Residents unaware of 
partnership actions 

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions limited 

Residents’ access to 
oppose actions process 
blocked 

Partnership fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
actions 

No scrutiny of actions 
takes place 

Reputation risk Increased complaints for 
less than one week 

Increased complaints for 
more than one week 

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one week 

Negative national press 
coverage for one day, 
ongoing negative local 
coverage 

Negative national press 
coverage over several 
days. Public criticism 
from partners 

Financial risk Council’s contribution 
<£15,000 

Council’s contribution 
£15,000-£50,000 

Council’s contribution 
£50,000-£100,000 

Council’s contribution 
£100,000-£200,000 

Council’s contribution 
>£200,000 

78



 
Page 20 of 21                                                                                                                 

Legal risk Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability <£15,000 

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £15,000-£50,000 

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £50,000-£100,000 

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability £100,000£200,000 

Lack of clarity in terms of 
liability >£200,000 

Disruption risk Partnership arrangements 
create delays 

Partnership 
arrangements create 
minor delays 

Partnership arrangements 
create significant delays 

Partnership arrangements 
limit operational freedom 

Partnership fails, key 
shared resources lost 

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated 
area 

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area 

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to rectify 

Major or widespread 
damage requiring central 
government assistance 

Contractual risk Negative impact on 
partnership relationship 

Minor contract 
renegotiation required 

Major contract 
renegotiation required 

Partnership purpose 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked 

Partnership failure 
and/or termination of 
contract 

Asset & Infrastructure risk Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement 

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement 

Widespread network 
issues, partnership 
connections unreliable 

Partnership properties 
inaccessible, online 
resources compromised 

Partnership properties 
damaged, key 
infrastructure outage 

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness 

Individual receives minor 
injuries  

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries 

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life 

Operational risk impacts 

Impact score 1 2 3 4 5 

Title Minimal Low Medium High Critical 

Political risk Residents unaware of 
decision-making process 

Residents’ access to 
decision-making process 
limited 

Residents’ access to 
decision-making process 
blocked 

Decisions not published Authority fails to 
effectively scrutinise its 
decisions 

79



 
Page 21 of 21                                                                                                                 

Reputation risk Increased complaints 
for less than one week 

Increased complaints for 
more than one week 

Increased complaints in 
for other services as 
problems cause a backlog 

Complaints not being 
heeded, generating 
further complaints 

Negative local press 
coverage for one day, 
increased complaints for 
more than one quarter 

Financial risk Up to 1% of service 
budget 

Up to 5% of service 
budget 

Up to 10% of service 
budget 

Up to 15% of service 
budget 

Over 15% of service 
budget 

Legal risk Authorities’ actions’ 
legality questioned in 
public 

Authorities’ actions’ 
legality repeatedly 
questioned in public 

Council decisions legally 
challenged 

Council decisions 
overturned 

Damages or similar claim 
sought against authority 

Disruption risk Individual officers 
having work disrupted  

Multiple officers unable 
to work 

Total service outage for 
one day or less 

Total service outage for 
several days 

Total service outage for 
more than a week 

Environmental risk Immediately remedied 
damage in an isolated 
area 

Easily remedied damage 
in an isolated area 

Short term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Long term damage in an 
isolated area requiring 
partners assistance 

Damage requiring special 
budget provision to 
rectify 

Contractual risk Negative impact on 
supplier/client 
relationship 

Minor contract 
renegotiation required 

Major contract 
renegotiation required 

Service reduction dictated 
by contractor’s ability to 
operate 

Service provision 
significantly altered or 
sanction clauses invoked 

Asset & Infrastructure risk Individual pieces of 
equipment damaged or 
needing replacement 

Isolated network issues, 
multiple pieces of 
equipment needing 
replacement 

Widespread network 
issues, vehicle damaged 

Council properties 
inaccessible, vehicle need 
replacing 

Council properties 
damaged, multiple 
vehicles need replacing, 
key infrastructure outage 

Health and Safety risk People engaging in 
hazardous activities 
without awareness 

Individual receives minor 
injuries  

Multiple people receive 
minor injuries 

Individual serious injury Multiple people seriously 
injured, individual loss of 
life 

[Risk impacts do not need to match the descriptions above exactly, the category cells’ descriptions provide examples of risks to give context to each score] 

80



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy and Governance 

To: Governance and Audit Committee- 11th February 2021

Author: Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner

Subject:  January 20/21 Strategic Risk Management Report 

Purpose: To update the Committee on the status of the Councils’ strategic risks for 
Q4 20/21

Recommendation(s): 
1) That the contents of the report are noted

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report presents the current status of the Council’s strategic risks as of February 2021. 
This report serves to highlight the changes that the council’s strategic risks have 
undergone since it was last seen by the Governance and Audit Committee in December 
2020.

1.2   This report also serves as a return to quarterly reporting of strategic risks to the 
Governance and Audit. This cycle had previously been disrupted by the ongoing COVID-
19 pandemic.

1.3   Strategic risks have been reviewed and updated with responsible members of the 
Executive Management Team (EMT). These cover the over-arching risks that may affect 
the strategic direction of the council, rather than risks linked to business continuity or 
those that affect discreet service areas.

1.4 In their nature, strategic risks have been identified as having the potential to cause 
organisation wide impact and will often cover a number of key services and departments.

1.5         The Council’s risk scoring mechanism is based on a 5x5 matrix and is comparable with 
best practice in other similar organisations. The risk matrix provides a comprehensive 
assessment and understanding of risk likelihood and impact. The matrix results in a 
numerical score which combines the impact of the risk occurring with the likelihood of it 
happening.

1.6       Risks fall into High, Medium or Low categories depending on their rating.

High
Medium
Low

1.7     Risks are tracked below in a heat map to represent the number of strategic risks currently 
reported at each score.

81

Agenda Item 12



1.8    The risks are made up of the following

Level of identified risk December 2020 January 2021
High 1 1
Medium 9 9
Low 2 1

As per the minutes of Governance and Audit on the 7th December 2020, the risk related to 
CAPITA has been downgraded from a strategic risk to an operational risk. This decision 
was recommended as the risk was now considered a low risk and could therefore be dealt 
with at an operational level moving forward. It continues to be monitored through the 
appropriate mechanisms related to operational risk.

The largest strategic risk for the council is currently the impact of an epidemic/pandemic 
event on key council services. This risk relates to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and the 
council’s ability to respond to the ongoing situation to ensure that it continues to deliver 
services to it’s residents. As per appendix A, mitigations remain in place to allow the council 
to respond to the ongoing pandemic. 

The most notable changes to strategic risk relates to two financial risks (Medium term 
financial plan and Business rates retention scheme) which have both had their likelihood 
reduced down one level. This is a result of work that has been done by the finance team in 
relation to both the council’s budget. Both of these risks however remain medium level risks 
to the council.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Note the contents of the report and the recommendation and do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Not applicable.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 That the Committee is made aware of the Council’s strategic risks and understands that 
they are being managed and mitigated effectively. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 

implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct constitutional or legal implications.

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the    Councils 

corporate priorities.

82



5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications. 

5.7 Financial 
5.7.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the Council's budgets and 

financial management.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
5.8.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications.

5.9 Reputation 
5.9.1 Risks which come to fruition have some reputational consequences. It is the purpose of the 

risk management strategy to manage potential outcomes by means of control measures. 

5.10 Risk Management 
5.10.1 This report provides details on the Council's strategic risks.

5.11 Safeguarding
5.11.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result 

of this report.

5.12 Staffing
5.12.1 This report contains information on strategic risks relevant to the delivery of the Council's   
……… corporate priorities.  

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Non applicable 

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 EMT: Executive Management team

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner
Telephone Number: 07766510582
Email: ryan.pack@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

83



Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Register

Appendix B Breckland District Council Strategic Risk Matrix

84



BDC Strategic Risk Report inc Targets

Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend 

(last qtr)
Target 
Impact

Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Impact of 
epidemic/pandemic on 
delivery of key council 
services

If an event deemed to be either a epidemic or 
pandemic were to affect the District, then the council 
may struggle deliver key and statutory services to it's 
residents

16 25 5 5  1 1  

Critical breach of ICT 
security

If the council does not ensure that it's ICT security 
and associated plans and policies are up to date and 
robust then it places itself at increased risk of 
breaches including but not limited to ransomware and 
data exfiltration (which are becoming more common, 
with the public sector as with all other government 
systems and private companies).

25 12 4 3 3 3 30-Jun-
2019

General Data Protection 
Regulation

If the council does not ensure that data identified in 
the General Data Protection Regulations is held in an 
appropriate and secure manner, then it would be in 
breach of the act and would be liable for action from 
the Information Commissioners Office (ICO).

16 12 4 3 3 2 31-Jul-
2019

85



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend 

(last qtr)
Target 
Impact

Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Impact of the council being 
unable to fulfil it’s statutory 
duties in relation to 
homelessness

If the council is unable to fulfil it's statutory duties in 
relation to homelessness, then it may find itself in 
breach of legislation such as the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017.

12 12 4 3 3 2 31-Oct-
2019

Failure to maximise income 
from investment asset 
portfolio

If the council fails to maximise income from the 
investment asset portfolio (commercial property) then 
there would be a budget gap

16 12 4 3 3 2 31-Mar-
2020

Emerging government policy

If the council does not monitor emerging government 
policy, then it may not fully understand the 
implications of certain policies on organisational 
service delivery models and budget position. This is 
includes but is not limited to policy around local 
industrial strategies, environmental policy, Domestic 
Abuse Bill, emerging waste strategies, any white 
papers with regards to local authority devolution and 
exiting the European Union. 

9 9 3 3    

Contracts Monitoring
If the council fails to monitor it's contracts with 
external partners correctly then it places itself at an 
increased risk of implications from both a financial 
and performance perspective. 

16 9 3 3 2 3 31-Jul-
2019

86



Title Description Original 
Score Current Risk Score Impact Likelihood Trend 

(last qtr)
Target 
Impact

Target 
Likelihood

Target 
Date

Failure to deliver Local Plan 
and its Delivery Plan

If the councils fails to deliver Local Plan and its 
Delivery Plan - then there is a risk to reputation, 
financial implications and possible Secretary of State 
intervention. 

8 6 3 2 4 1 30-Apr-
2019

Medium Term Financial Plan 
Not Delivered

If the council's medium term financial plan is not 
delivered then it may not be able to produce a 
balanced budget.

12 6 2 3 2 2 31-Dec-
2019

Business rate retention 
scheme

If the Business rate retention and fair funding review 
changes from 2022-2023 then the reduction in 
funding will impact the councils budget

16 6 2 3 2 2 31-Dec-
2018

Failure to effectively 
implement corporate 
business continuity plan

If the council fails to effectively implement the 
corporate business continuity plan then the council 
may be exposing itself to the risk of service outage 
following a major incident.

4 3 3 1 3 1 31-Mar-
2019

 

87



Title Mitigations/controls Latest Note Latest note 
update date

Impact of 
epidemic/pandemic 
on delivery of key 
council services

 Weekly management Team meetings to assess the potential risks 
and ensure Business Continuity arrangements are robust.

 Work currently underway to ensure critical services continue, 
including collaboration with our contract and partners. 

The council continues to work with partner agencies and authorities to 
manage and mitigate the ongoing pandemic

03 February 
2021

Critical breach of 
ICT security

 Through a suite of protection measures such as web filtering and 
antivirus software, there is a good level of protection from viruses. 
Disaster recovery is also well maintained.

 Centrally managed antivirus software with daily updates to protect 
against virus and malware together with proactive reporting.
On access scanning of all files processed giving real-time protection

 Daily full scans of all files held at rest on drives.
Advisory updates from Government Cyber Security forum giving 
detailed information on any risks seen across the Government estate 
(both central and local).

 Corporate firewall provides additional protection on all traffic entering 
or leaving Breckland Council network giving different AV engine 
scanning.

 External scanning of all emails entering the council network which 
uses 4 different AV engines to provide additional granular AV 
scanning.

 Digital off site backups we still utilise tapes which are taken off site 
and stored.  These tapes are rotated on a weekly and monthly basis 
so there is a history of backups that can be used in the event of data 
recovery being required if the digital copies are corrupt.

BDC continues to work closely with the other local authorities and 
central Government bodies to enhance our ability to detect and protect 
against cyber-attacks.

The current climate though is showing a marked increase in cyber 
criminals targeting public sector bodies mainly due to the amount of 
data they hold and the difficult position many local authorities are in with 
regards spend on cyber defence. Given the upturn in cyber attacks on 
public sector bodies is increasing it would seem sensible to increase the 
likelihood of a cyber attack against Breckland Council.

The team has also recently to roll out Doja cyber security training to 
staff again. 

A further assessment of this risk has been carried out at the request of 
Governance and Audit committee to ensure that this risk is scored 
correctly. This assessment (in line with the council’s strategic risk 
management policy) concluded that the current assessment is of a high 
impact (4) and possible (3) likelihood were correct. It should however be 
noted that on certain areas, this risk could qualify as a critical (5) rather 
than a high (4) in terms of impact. These areas related to financial risk 
and asset and infrastructure risk. The full assessment can be found 
attached under appendix B.

25 January 
2021

88



General Data 
Protection 
Regulation

 Monthly meetings of the statutory information group monitor the 
situation and identify areas of remediation, which continue to be 
addressed.

 GDPR education and training continues to be rolled out

Training has now been rolled out across all staff and members.  Take 
up has been slow, but I have been asked not to chase staff who are 
already under so much pressure owing to the pandemic.   Take up will 
continue to be monitored and assistance offered where possible.  
Breaches are being recorded, but are in the main minor.  I am liaising 
with IT regarding the roll out of cyber training, with a view to increasing 
our resilience to cybercrime.

There is also a risk of retaining third party information, particularly that 
published on the website without good reason which could be in breach 
of the act and would be liable for action from the ICO.

28th January 
2021

Impact of the 
council being 
unable to fulfil it’s 
statutory duties in 
relation to 
homelessness

 Specialist case management software in place

 Experienced staff and ongoing training
  

 Increase of admin support to Housing Options Team to better utilise 
specialist staff to focus on complex cases
 

 Training in new duties to be ongoing (initial joint SHDC/BDC training 
held in January 2018)
 

 Utilisation of New Burdens funding £180k
 

 Two Housing Link workers recruited for BDC under Government 
provision (flexible housing grant) to managed and prevent homeless 
cases for complex cases.
 

 Identification of private sector options within both districts
 

 Work with partners to open other potential options

The risk remains the same for the short-medium term as the changes to 
the service are implemented over the next few months. Changes and 
processes currently under review. We are positioning the service to 
deal with this as best as it can in the future but the change management 
period will be unsettling and could have an impact on the ability to 
prevent homelessness as early as we would like. A restructure is 
currently underway, with the plans being approved by Overview and 
Scrutiny ahead of them being seen by Cabinet and full council in early 
February.

We are anticipating an increase in service demand in the new year 
when we start seeing the courts open for possession hearings and the 
impact of COVID starts trickling through in other areas too - e.g. 
unemployment, increasing mental health issues etc. The risk may 
therefore be revised at this point, to reflect the increase. 

19th January 
2021

Failure to 
maximise income 
from investment 
asset portfolio

 Work within the tenants notice period to re-let 

 Appropriate marketing budget to allow for advertising to fill voids as 
soon as possible 

 Monitoring of tenants business performance in larger units 

 Active asset management (i.e. acquisitions / disposals) to create a 
balanced portfolio in terms of unit site and use leasehold rental 
charges at/or above market rental valuation 

 Maintain policy on leasehold security deposits 

A number of businesses/Tenants in the Council’s Commercial Property 
Portfolio continue to be affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, associated 
restrictions and now with the January 21 National lockdown : Stay at 
home restraints. This will continue to affect the Council’s Commercial 
Property income outturn for 20/21.  

Despite the ongoing situation, the occupancy of the portfolio remains 
stable and interest in any future voids remains healthy with units 
continuing to be let minimizing any void period.  

The income forecast will continue to change over the coming months as 
a result of ongoing negotiations with individual businesses/Tenants and 

08 January 
2021

89



 Continual maintenance programme to assess condition of stock to 
allow for prioritisation of capital expenditure 

likely to decrease.  The main issues are with some of the Council’s 
retail and leisure tenants which are in the larger units that have been 
forced to close or are under alternative legal arrangements or pressure 
on lease renewals as a result of market conditions.

Emerging 
government policy

The council ensures that it retains a dedicated post in order to oversee policy 
changes and their impact on both the council and the region, as well as senior 
management also ensuring an awareness around government policy 
changes.

The council is likely to be impacted in the next 12 months by a number 
of key government decisions including: -

 

1. EU Exit this is being mitigated ongoing planning work across Norfolk 
with key partners and the Local Resilience Forum. While a trade deal is 
in place the impacts of this are still not know on the local economy.

 

2. Devolution and Recovery White Paper - this has been placed on hold 
by the Government until the COVID pandemic has subsided.

 

3. Local Government Spending Review - a one year settlement has 
been announced but this provides no clarity for later years. This will be 
mitigated through the budget planning process.

 

4. Environment Bill - this will bring in new requirements for the council 
around waste collection from 2023. This is being mitigated through 
provisions in the new waste contract.

3rd February 
2021

Contracts 
Monitoring

 Regular monitoring of contracts.

 Regular communication with external partners and stakeholders.

 Keep up to date with external changes with partners.

 Contracts team in place to regularly monitor contracts aligned with 
communications plan which ensures regular communication with 
partners and stakeholders.  

The Contracts and Procurement team are currently operating without a 
senior manager but continue to monitor the contracts register, alongside 
the impact of COVID-19 on any of the council's contracts. There is 
currently focussed activity in relation to the leisure contract, where the 
team is working with the relevant client department. 

The team continue to monitor the impact post EU exit and COVID-19 
and includes the impact on Thetford Power and GDPR implications. We 
continue to collaborate with partners to ensure that stakeholders are 
informed of the situation.

25th January 
2021

90



Failure to deliver 
Local Plan and its 
Delivery Plan

The current mitigations will be put in place;

 we will work with Capita to fill vacancies and put in effective interim 
cover

 we will establish additional informal working plan working groups to 
reach agreement over the settlement boundary policy

 re-evaluation of trajectory to establish the appropriate level of 
allocations for preferred sites consultation

The decision was taken by Members not to continue with the Local Plan 
review at present pending the government planning reform changes. 
This has therefore led to a rise in risk likelihood.

In the event that a decision regarding planning reform is not made 
ahead of 2022 deadline, then other options are available to the council 
in order to deliver the plan. This situation risk continues to be monitored 
in order to reflect and mitigate the ongoing situation. 

25th January 
2021

Medium Term 
Financial Plan Not 
Delivered

There are a number of controls in place to track delivery including-

 Transformation board
 Performance, Risk & Audit Board
 Finance Board
 PI's are tracking variance from plan

The draft budget report delivers a balanced budget for the new financial 
year, with a budget gap in future years. The Council has time to work up 
a new efficiencies plan before April 2022 to deliver this budget gap. As 
a result, the risk score has been decreased.

The budgets are subject to a large amount of assumptions currently due 
to the uncertainty around future funding of Local Government alongside 
the impact on the economy and our residents from the Covid pandemic.  
When the budgets are set for next financial year, we should have a 
clearer picture which will allow us to understand the exact budget gap 
facing us over the MTFP.

25th January 
2021

91



Business rate 
retention scheme

 Financial provision has been made to cover the risk of current 
appeals, collection rates and growth.

 Continue to keep up to date with CLG consultations and update 
MTFP accordingly. 

These changes will not take place for 2021-22 as planned and have 
been delayed until at least 2022-23.

Assumptions are included within the budget for the impact of these 
changes based on estimates (as full details of the schemes are not yet 
known).

The risk score was increased last quarter as a result of the potential 
reduced income in NNDR as a result of the Pandemic.  We will not 
understand the lost income fully until next financial year, when the 
impacts of the pandemic and NNDR reliefs are fully realised.  However, 
the new budget reflects the lower income levels and therefore the 
impact has been reduced this quarter.

25th January 
2021

Failure to 
effectively 
implement 
corporate business 
continuity plan

 Risk mitigation is included in individual service areas Business 
Continuity Plans for known threats.

 BDC plans are being updated to reflect new working arrangements 
and under regular review. 

• BDC plans are being updated to reflect new working arrangements as 
a result of COVID and under regular review.

 
• The councils list of critical activities was reviewed March 2020 – to 
ensure these services continued during COVID -19 and to allow 
additional staffing resource to be deployed as needed across theses 
services. This will be reviewed again in March 2021.

 
• Specialist cells have been set up to ensure continuity in our at-risk 
areas of service delivery for the public and community. 

25th January 
2021

92



Appendix B- Breckland Council Risk Matrix (taken from Breckland Council risk policy)

93



94



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member, Governance,
 and Maxine O'Mahony Executive Director Strategy and 

Governance/Monitoring Officer. 

To: Governance and Audit Committee – 11 February 2021
Council – 25 February 2021

Author: Jacqui Berridge – Lawyer 
Mark Stinson – Executive Manager for Governance

 
Subject: Constitution 

Purpose: To consider variations to the Constitution relating to (a) Call-in for Non-Key 
Officer Decisions; and (b) the definition of "Key Decision" 

Recommendations: 

a) Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions – that members decide whether they wish to exclude 
Call-in from Non-Key Decisions made by officers under delegated authority, and whether to amend 
the Constitution in accordance with Appendix A;

b)  Definition of Key Decision - that the existing definition in the glossary to the Constitution be 
amended to read as follows:  

            "Key Decision" means a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a 
significant effect on communities in two or more wards of the Council and/or is likely to 
result in the Authority incurring expenditure, or making savings, in any single financial year 
above £250,000."

c) That the Key Decision figure be re-assessed at the end of a 12 month period to enable members 
to consider whether the expenditure/savings figure is still appropriate.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council’s current Constitution was approved by full Council at its meeting on 21 
January 2016.  Under Article 14 of the Constitution (as amended) any proposed changes 
may be approved only by full Council unless the change is:

 a minor variation; or
 required to be made to remove any inconsistency or ambiguity; or
 required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the Council or its 

committees or the Cabinet

1.2 In such circumstances the variation may be made by the Monitoring Officer and comes into 
force with immediate effect, but must (unless a minor typographical, referencing or 
numbering change) be referred to full Council as soon as is reasonably possible.  Any 
change only continues to have effect if full Council agree. Minor typographical, referencing 
and numbering changes shall not require the approval of full Council. 

1.3 All other variations must be submitted to full Council for approval.

95

Agenda Item 13



1.4 This report seeks full Council decision on two non-minor variations. 

1.5 References in this report to "the 2012 Regulations" mean the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

1.6 It is recommended that both issues are considered concurrently. 

2.0       PROPOSED VARIATIONS BEING SUBMITTED TO COUNCIL FOR CONSIDERATION

(a) Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions

2.1 The 2012 Regulations have been in force since 10 September 2012.  Amongst other things, 
the Regulations require all executive decisions (meaning both Key and Non-Key Decisions) 
taken by officers under delegated powers to be published.  Prior to these Regulations only 
officer decisions which were Key Decisions had, by law, to be published.  

2.2 The Constitution currently requires all published executive officer decisions to be subject to 
call-in, but prior to 2016 the Constitution only required officer Key Decisions to be subject to 
call-in.  By default, then, all officer executive decisions (other than very minor/administrative 
decisions which do not need to be published) are subject to call-in. This means that a very 
large number of officer decisions are now subject to call-in but this is by default rather than 
design. 

2.3 Under section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000 the Council is required to ensure that 
its Overview and Scrutiny Commission has power to review or scrutinise executive 
decisions, including the power to review or scrutinise decisions made but not implemented 
(call-in), but it is for each Council to decide which decisions are subject to call-in.  As the 
Constitution currently requires all published officer executive decisions to be subject to call-
in this can significantly reduce the speed of decision-making, and potentially divert attention 
away from those officer decisions that are likely to be of the greatest interest to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 

2.4 It is suggested that, where an officer is authorised to make an executive decision under 
delegated powers, members may consider that such a decision should not be subject to 
call-in unless the decision is a Key Decision, and potential amendments are shown in 
Appendix A to this report. The definition of Key Decision is dealt with later in this report. 

2.5 If approved, Non-Key Decisions will still continue to be published in accordance with the 
law, in order to ensure openness and transparency, and to enable members and the public 
to scrutinise decisions taken.  The Overview and Scrutiny Commission will also continue to 
have the ability to scrutinise such decisions after implementation, and may wish to consider 
these decisions at scheduled meetings in order to hold decision-makers to account.

Previous Consideration 

2.6 This report has previously been considered by:

 the Governance and Audit Committee on 8 October 2020
 the Overview and Scrutiny Commission on 22 October 2020
 full Council on 10 December 2020

 2.7 The Governance and Audit Committee previously supported the proposal. The Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission, however, felt that call-in should remain for both Key and Non-

96



Key officer decisions.  Full Council referred the matter back to the Governance and Audit 
Committee for further consideration.  

Conclusions

2.8 Until the introduction of the 2012 regulations it was not necessary to publish Non-Key 
Decisions made by officers and therefore call-in was not relevant.  After the 2012 
regulations came into effect, and until the new Constitution was adopted in 2016, officer 
Non-Key Decisions were not subject to call-in.  

2.9 There is a balance to be struck between efficient decision making and the important role of 
scrutiny.  Officer Non-Key Decisions are currently subject to call-in by default rather than by 
design and applying call-in has slowed down the decision making process.    

2.10 Bearing these issues in mind members are invited to consider whether call-in should be 
removed from officer Non-Key Decisions.  

 
(b) Definition of Key Decision  

2.11 The Constitution currently contains the following definition of Key Decision:

"a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more wards of the Council and/or is likely to result in the 
Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any single 
financial year above the capital expenditure threshold or the revenue expenditure 
threshold currently laid down by the Council". 

2.12 The capital and revenue threshold currently agreed by the Council is 25% of the relevant 
budget, however this is causing practical problems because it is necessary for many 
potential decisions to be referred to the Finance Team for assessment and the 25% of 
relevant budget is not defined (ie 25% of total Council budget, the service budget, gross or 
net budget, etc)  

2.13 It is felt that the Key Decision threshold should be readily understood by officers, members 
and members of the public, and should specifically be detailed in the Constitution to avoid 
confusion.  With this in mind a review of the Key Decision definition has been undertaken.  

What is the relevance of a Key Decision 

2.14 The relevance of a Key Decision is that:

 when the Leader, Cabinet, any Committee of the Cabinet, any portfolio holder or 
any officer with delegated authority from any of these wishes to make a Key 
Decision, the 2012 Regulations (which replaced similar regulations issued in 2000) 
and the Constitution (Access to Information Procedure Rules) require the following:
o the proposal to make the Key Decision must be advertised on the Key 

Decision Plan which is a public document available on the Council's website
o 28 days must elapse from the date that the Key Decision Plan is published 

before the decision can be made
o during that 28 day period members, and members of the public, may submit 

comments on the issues that are included on the Key Decision Plan
o if the decision is urgent such that the 28 day requirement cannot be met then 

a reduced 5 day period is permitted provided notice is issued to the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

97



o If the decision is so urgent that the 5 day requirement cannot be met then 
the decision can be taken immediately, with the approval of the Chairman of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission.

 where a decision is made without following the above procedures the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission may review the decision and, if they conclude that it was a 
Key Decision, the Commission may require a report to full Council setting out the 
reasons for dealing with the matter as a Non-Key Decision

 if the first part of this report is approved, only officer decisions which are Key 
Decisions will be subject to call-in. 

Review of Definition  

2.15 Regulation 8 of the 2012 Regulations defines a Key Decision as:

 "an executive decision, which is likely (a) to result in the relevant local authority 
incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant 
having regard to the relevant local authority's budget for the service or function to 
which the decision relates; or (b) to be significant in terms of its effects on 
communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral 
divisions in the area of the relevant local authority".  

2,16 Whilst Government guidance was available in 2002 to assist local authorities to determine 
what is "significant" this was much criticised for being too prescriptive, and local authorities 
are now left to determine this issue.  

2.17 The following table compares how "Key Decision" is defined in Breckland and neighbouring 
authorities in relation to the expenditure/income threshold: 

Authority Is "generating 
income" 
included  

Threshold

Breckland yes 25% of relevant budget 
South 
Norfolk 

yes Gross full year effect of £100,000 or 10% of the Council 
portfolio’s net budget, whichever is the greater which has 
not been included in the relevant theme budget 

Broadland no  Any proposal with a cost in excess of 1% of the 
council’s net revenue budget 

North 
Norfolk 

no Expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more except 
where such expenditure or saving is specifically 
identified in the Council's Budget 

Norwich 
City 

no Any sum exceeding whichever is greater of the 
thresholds established by the European Public Contracts 
Directive 2004/18/EC for Local Government in respect of 
contracts for supplies or services).

(Replaced by 2014/24/EU. Figures were as follows for 
2020:

 Supply services and design contract £189,330
 Works Contracts: £4,733,252
 Social and other specific services: £663,540) 

 

98



NOTE: NONOTE: One of the above authorities defines a Key Decision as expenditure that is not included in the 
relevant theme budget. However, for BDC, where the Cabinet makes a decision that proposes the spending of 
money that is not included in the budget then the Cabinet may in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules 
vire up to £68,000 from one approved account to another.  That virement is considered to be an executive 
decision.  Where a larger sum needs to be vired, Cabinet must seek Council approval for the additional spend 
and that decision is not, by definition, an executive decision and therefore cannot be a Key Decision. It is not 
therefore considered appropriate for BDC to define a Key Decision as any expenditure not included in the 
relevant budget.

Considerations

2.18 The following issues are put forward for members' consideration:

 most of the neighbouring authorities do not include reference to "generating income" 
within their definition of Key Decision, and such reference is not included in the 2012 
Regulations.  This requirement can delay the receipt of grant payments and it is 
suggested that this reference be excluded.

 there is no reference in the statutory definition to any timeframe over which the Key 
Decision value is calculated.  The Council's Constitution refers to the threshold in 
relation to each financial year and it is considered that this is appropriate and should 
remain.

 it is considered that the larger items of expenditure are more likely to be of concern 
to members of the public

 greater bureaucracy inevitably slows down decision-making
 there is a wide variation in what neighbouring authorities consider to be significant in 

terms of expenditure and income 
 it is considered appropriate to adopt a threshold somewhere between the highest 

and lowest amounts detailed in the above table, with a view to testing this 
arrangement over the next 12 months

 it is suggested that a figure of £250,000 would be appropriate, with this figure 
relating to both revenue and capital expenditure

 
2.19 If the above issues are accepted it is proposed that the definition of Key Decision in the 

Constitution be amended to read as follows:

"a decision which, in relation to an Executive Function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more wards of the Council and/or is likely to result in the 
Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any single 
financial year above £250,000 the capital expenditure threshold or the revenue 
expenditure threshold currently laid down by the Council". 

2.20 If approved, it is further suggested that the Key Decision figure be re-assessed at the end 
of a 12 month period to enable members to consider whether the figure is still appropriate. 

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 Members have the option to approve or not approve the variations, or to require 
alternative variations.

Kings 
Lynn and 
West 
Norfolk 

no £500,000 or more

99



4.0        REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 Prior to the 2012 Regulations it was not necessary for officer non-Key Decisions to be 
published.  Prior to the adoption of the amended Constitution in 2016 officer non-Key 
Decisions were not subject to call-in.  The current requirement for officer non-Key 
Decisions to be subject to call-in were included in the Constitution by accident rather than 
design, and it is recommended that call-in revert to the pre 2016 status. 

4.2 The current definition of "Key Decision" is not sufficiently precise to give clarity to 
members, officers and members of the public.  

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 To reduce bureaucracy and the administrative burden; and ensure clarify of function.  

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below.

6.1 Constitution & Legal

6.1.1 Approval of amendments to the Constitution is a function of the full Council.  Any legal 
implications are set out in the relevant paragraphs.  Amending the Constitution is a 
function reserved to full Council.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1 None 

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1 None, but reference to "the 2012 Regulations" mean the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

  
Background papers:-  The Council’s Constitution which is available on the Council’s website.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jacqui Berridge Lawyer
Telephone Number:
Email: Jacqui.berridge@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

100



Appendix A Proposed amendments if deletion of call-in to non-key officer 
decisions is approved

101



Appendix A – Proposed amendments if deletion of call-in to non-key officer decisions is approved 

Part 3 - Section D – Delegation to Committees  - Section D1 – General provisions relating to 
Executive Powers 

Paragraph 7 be amended to read as follows:

“7.  All Executive Decisions, (other than (a) urgent decisions (as described in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules) and (b) Non-Key Decisions made by officers), are subject to the 
Call-In procedure set out later in Part 3.”

Function of Overview and Scrutiny Commission – paragraph 20 describing the Call-in Procedure 
for Executive Decisions be amended as follows:

“No Executive action shall be taken to implement a decision by the Leader, a Cabinet Member or 
by the Cabinet, a Sub-Committee of the Cabinet or an a Key Decision by an officer for a period 
of five clear Working Days from the date of publication of the decision to members, and if any 
reference is made within this time under the following paragraph, Executive action shall be further 
delayed pending consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission. However, Executive 
action can proceed at once if the action is urgent and the procedures set out in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules are followed.”

Section F1 – Officer Delegations 

Paragraph 11.0 be amended to read as follows:

11.0 Where a decision to be made by any Officer under delegated authority meets the definition of 
an Executive Decision including a Key Decision, that Officer shall be obliged to publish the 
decision.  Where that Executive Decision is also a Key Decision that Officer shall be obliged 
to comply with all relevant rules in this Constitution relating to Key Decisions (with particular regard 
to publishing Key Decisions in advance, publishing decision notices and complying with Call-In).

102



BRECKLAND COUNCIL GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME

Meeting Date Agenda Item Officer Responsible
11 February 2021

Q3 Strategic Risk Report/Update Executive Director Strategy & Governance
Risk Management Policy Execuitve Director Strategy & Governance
Accounting Policies 2020-21 Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Call-in for Non-Key Officer Decisions Executive Director Strategy & Governance
Annual Audit Letter External Audit
Self- assessment Exercise Report Head of Internal Audit

10 June 2021
Local Authority Financial Reporting and External Audit Executive Director Strategy & Governance
Un-audited Statement of Accounts 2020/21 Executive Director Strategy & Governance

29 July 2021
Audited Annual Statement of Accounts 2020/21(tbc) Executive Director Strategy & Governance

30 September 2021
Audited Annual Statement of Accounts 2020/21 (tbc) Executive Director Strategy & Governance

02 December 2021

date tbc Audit Committee Annual Report Head of Internal Audit

103

A
genda Item

 14


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Breckland Council Annual Audit Letter for the year ending 31 March 2020
	9 Self-Assessment Report
	Appendix 1 BRK October 2019

	10 Accounting Policies 2020-21
	Appendix 1 for Accounting Policies 2020-21

	11 Risk Management Policy
	Appendix 1 for Risk management policy

	12 Q3 Strategic Risk Update
	Appendix 1 for Q3 Strategic Risk Update
	Appendix 2 for Q3 Strategic Risk Update

	13 Constitution - call-in of officer non-key decisions/definition of key decision
	14 Work Programme

